Introduction


Dr. Philip Karl Boraas Lundeberg, a long-time member of the Naval Historical Foundation, had a distinguished career as a naval officer, historian, and museum curator.  As a naval officer, he served on the destroyer escort Frederick C. Davis and was one of three officers to survive when she was torpedoed by a German U-Boat near the end of World War II.  That interesting story is told herein, but what made this a truly valuable interview are his insights on the naval historical profession. 


Naval historians focus on the naval history (which is what they are supposed to do!)  Ironically, the process of capturing and preserving naval history is often as interesting as the history itself and is overlooked as historians, being the modest folks they are, rarely document their activities.  In this transcript, Dr. Lundeberg provides some insights about his career as a historian and curator, studying under Samuel Eliot Morison and others, teaching at St. Olaf College and the Naval Academy, and then serving as a naval curator at the Smithsonian.  He also provides excellent narrative about other significant historians, curators and exhibits during a thirty-plus year timeframe.


Thanks go to John Maloney who performed the transcription work and the efforts of intern Karen Davidson to incorporate edits and format the transcript and, of course, to Dr. Lundeberg for giving his time to this effort.
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Dr. Philip Karl Boraas Lundeberg


Born in Minneapolis, he taught history at St. Olaf College and the U.S. Naval Academy before coming to the Smithsonian in 1959 as associate curator in the Department of Armed Forces History.  There he developed naval exhibits for the National Museum’s new Hall of Armed Forces History, including that of the Continental Gondola Philadelphia, a rare survivor of the American Revolution that he brought from Lake Champlain in 1961.  Working with Howard I. Chapelle, he directed the construction of three-score scaled models of American naval vessels for the chronological armed forces exhibit and special exhibitions.  In 1981, Commander Lundeberg organized the Smithsonian exhibition commemorating the Yorktown bicentennial, “By Sea and By Land: Victory with the Help of France,” mounted in the Smithsonian castle with the collaboration of the Embassy of France.  He also prepared naval elements for exhibits elsewhere in the Institution, including “Centennial 1876;”  “The Japan Expedition of Commodore Matthew C. Perry;” and following his retirement, “Magnificent Voyagers: The U.S. Exploring Expedition, 1838-1842.”  


A graduate summa cum laude of Duke University early in 1944, he was commissioned at the USNR Midshipmen’s School at Columbia University.  He served in destroyer escorts, being the youngest of three officer survivors of USS Frederick C. Davis, last American warship sunk in the Battle of the Atlantic during World War II.  Thus motivated, he completed his doctoral dissertation, American Anti-Submarine Operations in the Atlantic,1943-45.  He taught naval and diplomatic history at Annapolis before being called to the Smithsonian, where his duties included not only research, exhibits and collections management but also staff training in museum security.  His scholarly works, derived from a survivor’s perspective, focused largely on the emergence of undersea technology and operations, including “Undersea Warfare and Allied Strategy in World War I,” in the Smithsonian Journal of History (1966); The Continental Gunboat “Philadelphia” (1966) and Samuel Colt’s Submarine Battery (1974).  In 1995 he published a new edition of The Gunboat “Philadelphia”, bringing human dimension to the history of that venerable survivor, made possible by discovery of her crew’s final muster roll.

At the Smithsonian, Lundeberg encouraged collaboration between museum, academic and government historians, preparing a series of articles on “The Museum Perspective” for the historical journal Military Affairs.  He served as vice president and president of the American Military Institute (1968-73) and of the United States Commission on Military History (1974-1981), directing conferences at the Smithsonian of the International Commission of Military History on the themes of “La Technique Militaire” (1975) and “Soldier Statesmen of the Age of the Enlightenment” (1982).  He was elected organizing chairman of the International Congress of Maritime Museums at London in 1972, served as Chairman of the Council of American Maritime Museums (1976-1978) and traveled overseas periodically as secretary of the International Committee of Museum Security of ICOM.  In 1970 he edited the Bibliographie de l’Histoire des Grandes Routes Maritimes: Etats Unis d’Amerique for the International Commission of Maritime History.  A founder of the North American Society for Oceanic History, he received that Society’s K. Jack Bauer Award in 1998 for Distinguished Service in behalf of maritime history.


Married to Eleanore Berntson Lundeberg in 1953, he has sung with her in Lutheran choirs in the Washington area for some fifty years.  He also has a son Karl Fredrik and two granddaughters of Los Angeles, and sister Andrea Lundeberg Ross of Sewanee, Tennessee. He passed away on October 3, 2019. 
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 17 June 2002

WINKLER: This is Dave Winkler of the Naval Historical Foundation. It is 17 June 2002. This is tape one, side one, of an interview with Philip Karl Lundeberg at his home here down by Mt. Vernon, Virginia. I just want to open and give an overview basically of…. It says here that you’re from Minnesota. Could talk a little bit about being born there and growing up, a little bit about your parents, your childhood experiences. 

LUNDEBERG: I was born in Minneapolis in 1923. At the time that my father was a young instructor in Romance languages at the University of Minnesota. My life in those early years consisted basically in moving with our family, first from Minnesota to Wittenberg College in Ohio, then to the University of Illinois and then finally, in 1931, down to North Carolina to Duke University, where my Dad taught for the remainder of his career in Romance languages there.

My parents transmitted to me the ideas and ideals of my grandparents who were very striking individuals. My father’s father, Knut Olavsson Lundeberg, was a Norwegian immigrant and a pioneer Lutheran minister in the Upper Midwest. He was a founder of a Lutheran synod, the Church of the Lutheran Brethren, and had a long and very interesting career. Reverend Lundeberg had a family of ten children and a very dedicated wife. They managed to get all of their kids through college in that period. Interestingly enough he was the pastor who married my maternal grandparents, at a time I believe when my grandfather, Julius Boraas, was Superintendent of public schools in Goodhue County, Minnesota. He was later called to St. Olaf College and taught there some 40 years, as head of the Education Department. In tandem with that position he served on the Minnesota State Board of Education for many years and was involved in a notable controversy, at the beginning of World War II, dealing with some Trotskyite Communists who had infiltrated the state education department. These individuals had attempted to block Federal programs to utilize the Minnesota vocational educational system to identify people for special training for work in our emerging defense industries. In the last decade I have placed the papers of my two grandfathers in the archives of the Norwegian American Historical Association, located at St. Olaf College, in Northfield, Minnesota. 

I gained from Grandfather Boraas, through my parents, the idea of striving for overall competence (even in math!), and excellence if possible in whatever you do. That somehow rang a bell when I heard, in Midshipman’s school in 1944, the dictum that “A Naval officer can do anything well.” 

WINKLER: It says here you got your education at Duke and I think that’s a…, you mentioned that your father was down there.

LUNDEBERG: I was a faculty child and therefore initially got free tuition exemption at Duke. During my junior year I joined the Navy V-12 unit at Duke and expected to go from there to Midshipman School. I managed to take extra courses and actually graduated, with a major in history, early in 1944 and then went to the New York Naval Reserve Midshipman’s School at Columbia University. I got my commission there on the 29th of June. One of the other F.C. Davis survivors, our senior survivor, Bob Minerd, was in our same 18th class at Columbia. 

WINKLER: Could you talk a little bit about the V-12 program, the physical background, the program as it was run at Duke.

LUNDEBERG: It was an excellent program. We had Marines in it as well as Navy. We got excellent physical training from the Duke Athletic Department. It made me somewhat of a man out of basically an academic grind. We were billeted in Duke’s gothic West Campus dorms. We had reasonable collegiate camaraderie there. I had lived at home previously, so this was a chance for a “towny” to get on campus. I had a chance to not only do the history major but also take several courses that prepared me well for Midshipmen School. I took navigation, trigonometry, electronics, engineering drawing, German and naval orientation. I also managed to take a course in naval history with a superb young assistant professor, Theodore Ropp, who would become the most prolific director of PhD’s in military history in this country. You may know his book, War in the Modern World, a classic text. I didn’t have an opportunity to do my Ph.D. under him because, when I came back to Duke after the war and did my Masters in history, Ropp was at Harvard on a one-year visiting appointment. If  I had stayed at Duke at that point I probably would have done it under Ropp. But I was a faculty child. I had a B.A. and M.A. from Duke, and the conventional wisdom was, you need to get the final degree somewhere else. I managed to get into Harvard and that’s another story. 

WINKLER: I guess can you go back a little bit and explain your interest in history. 
LUNDEBERG: When I arrived in Durham in 1931 as an eight-year-old, I discovered that I was a Dammyankee. Fortunately for my orientation, my Dad, with access to the splendid Duke Library, began getting me books on the Civil War, so I could understand what this cultural problem was all about. I started with Battles and Leaders of the Civil War and Miller’s Photographic History of the Civil War. When the United Daughters of the Confederacy had their essay contest, I played the game and wrote an essay on Jeb Stuart. I got into Civil War military history, very little naval history - that was on the distant horizon. I went through all the military biographies of that period, Douglas S. Freeman’s Lee, and so forth. Whenever we would drive in the summer from North Carolina to Minnesota, an annual pilgrimage to visit grandparents, we would stop at a battlefield along with way. I visited Gettysburg, Antietam and the Smithsonian as a teenager. Thus I particularly appreciated Ropp’s course. From Ropp I got some basic ideas, for instance, the significance of commerce warfare, historically. And that of course carried right into my studies on the Battle of the Atlantic, in two world wars.  

WINKLER: What were your impressions of Ropp as an instructor?”

LUNDEBERG: He was a very benign yet sophisticated, learned instructor. If you ever heard him delivering a paper at a professional historical meeting, you’d be bewildered by his assumption of what you knew. Our wartime class consisted of Navy V-12ers and Marines. Ropp came in the first day, looked at us all, smiled, and genially said, “Nobody flunks.”  He was a great mentor. I originally got to know Prof. Ropp as a teenager, when I free lance painted some of the interior of his house.

So for this faculty child there was a personal connection. Ropp had taken his Ph.D. at Harvard under William Langer in the early thirties. As a graduate student, Ropp was a colleague of Richard Leopold and the immigration historian Oscar Handlin. In 1944 Ropp was a rising younger member of what was a very strong History Department at Duke. 

WINKLER: Of course Duke’s reputation in military history continues to this day. 

LUNDEBERG: I had a long post war association with Ted Ropp, in both the American Military Institute and the U.S. Commission on Military History. Alex Roland, recently Chair of the Duke History Department, took an internship in our Naval History Division at the Smithsonian, sent up by Ropp to do his doctoral dissertation on underwater warfare in the age of sail.  A generation earlier Ropp had sent Clark Reynolds up for a similar museum perspective.

WINKLER: As far as the V-12 program. How long did that course take?

LUNDEBERG: I must have been there for three semesters. We had a mix of traditional academic courses and Navy “prep” courses - navigation and engineering drawing, both which I enjoyed. I can remember some of our Duke footballers being totally frustrated in engineering drawing - trying to visualize and draft something in three dimension. Some men could do it and some simply couldn’t. There Grandfather Boraas’ philosophy came in again. You’re familiar with the recent book on the V-12 program, whose philosophy was derived from Winston Churchill’s advice to President Roosevelt: “Do not squander your university generation in one prolonged, big bloody campaign the way we did in France in World War I. Train them, feed them deliberately into your officer candidate schools. They’ll have their opportunity for action. When I came out of midshipman’s school in the spring of 1944, just after Normandy, it seemed uncertain how long the war would last. I happened to hit a real nugget of action two weeks before V-E Day. 

WINKLER: Plus you had the war in Japan and that certainly… Which leads to another question. While you’re at Duke and then Columbia, obviously you must have been, and your fellow students following the war with great interest. 

LUNDEBERG: At Duke I could remember the Marines were following the Pacific campaigns and meditating as to how many second lieutenant’s were being killed and how many opportunities, how many billets there would be opening for them. We followed the course of the war at Duke and Columbia as well. At Columbia we were desperately trying to survive academically, to avoid being on the “bilge list” each Friday night. I can remember often studying rather then eating, in order to master the next lesson. It amounted to four months trying to master, understand, at least a part of what you could absorb at Annapolis in four years. It was a memorable, intense experience. I don’t recall getting around Manhattan at all during that period. They took us over to Riverside Church for evening vespers on Sunday. Otherwise we were fully occupied with drill and academics. I still recall the “shipping over” music at Saturday parades.

WINKLER: I guess I would describe your V-12 program was an academic experience and then the Midshipman’s school more as force-feeding.

LUNDEBERG: I got through navigation nicely at Columbia because I’d had it at Duke. I had had engineering drawing also and when I had the rudiments of damage control I understood the business about a ship’s sheer, half breadth and body plans and the structure of a ship, all relevant to damage control. I think we were well prepared under the circumstances. 

WINKLER: How big a class was at Midshipman’s school?

LUNDEBERG: My class book, Side Boy, indicates that our entering class numbered fifteen hundred – three hundred fleet men and twelve hundred from various V-12 colleges. Columbia actually graduated twenty-six classes of midshipmen from 1940 to 1945.  

WINKLER: There’s a picture in our Navy coffee table book of, I guess they had a graduation ceremony at St. Johns. That’s where I guess you got your commission. 

LUNDEBERG: Yes, at St. John of the Divine. We actually graduated 1386 men out of the original 1,500. Evidently we were badly needed even in mid 1944!

WINKLER: Any other reflections about the midshipman’s school?

LUNDEBERG: They got us out on Long Island Sound in PC’s and we got a little experience afloat. That was vitally necessary. Actually it wasn’t until after commissioning that I had practical gunnery experience. I was sent down to New Orleans for anti-aircraft training, prior to being sent to further ASW training at the Submarine Chaser Training Center in Miami. So I got to be a hot shellman on the 3-inch/50, a very loud gun. It was useful and made me appreciate the superb gun crews on my eventual ship, the USS Frederick C. Davis (DE 136).

WINKLER: I guess that’s a good question is when you get your commissioning, did you have anybody of significance speak at your commissioning?

LUNDEBERG: I don’t recall that at all. What I remember is that I managed to march with our brigade to St. John of the Divine in New York for the ceremony. I had injured my foot in a diving exercise and had been in the hospital for the last ten days of school. I managed to get through anyway. We were needed!

WINKLER: When you mentioned you were sent to New Orleans, can you discuss the detailing process when you graduated or did somebody hand you orders and said this was where you were supposed to go?  

LUNDEBERG: I think they needed people for duty with armed guard crews, amphibious vessels and destroyer escorts, both in the Atlantic and Pacific. It turned out that I was sent to SCTC Miami, which again was a pretty good experience. On the basis that I had good aural pitch acuity, as identified by the Doppler Test, I was sent to Fleet Sound School at Key West. Bob Minerd, my classmate, also graduated from there and he’s a musician. He had played in the drill band at Columbia. That was one of the bases for selection for Key West. When I later reported on board the Davis as a qualified ASW officer I had the classic Navy experience; they didn’t need an ASW officer so I became Assistant First Lieutenant and Damage Control officer. So here we are back again to Grandpa Boraas’ philosophy of taking things in stride and trying to do everything well. 

WINKLER: So you mentioned you went to the gunnery school in New Orleans, I guess for a week or so.

LUNDEBERG: Probably three weeks, to dovetail with the SCTC schedule. Again, I never got to explore New Orleans!

WINKLER: Then the billet opened up to you at SCTC, which was I believe that mean Sub Chaser Training Center.

LUNDEBERG: We were billeted in one of the little hotels on Biscayne Boulevard opposite the Training Center, hearing dance band music in the distance as we studied at night! We trained on the waterfront and afloat. Captain McDaniel, the commander at SCTC Miami, had a real fiery welcoming address for us, illustrated with a bullet-riddled life raft from a sunken merchant ship. It was probably designed to give some grim perspective for us callow college boys as to what we were getting into. This suggested the kind of people we were up against. 

WINKLER: And McDaniel I guess has been there for probably most of the war? 

LUNDEBERG: Do you have a copy of his address?

WINKLER: No.

LUNDEBERG: I have a copy. 

WINKLER: Okay. That might be worth as an insert.

LUNDEBERG: Powerful motivation.

WINKLER: How long was the course at SCTC?
LUNDEBERG: It must have been about 2 ½ months. Then I went down to Fleet Sound School. As the course involved the physics of sound, my course in electronics at Duke proved good background. I wasn’t the cleverest operator, but I learned the complex business of coordinating an attack on a U-boat. We went out on a submarine, an old R-boat, to see the other side of U-boat hunting. We went out on a PBY patrol aircraft and we had exercises at sea with sonar teams. It was again a force-feed course. If I had been able to use it on board the Davis it would have been challenging, but I would have missed out on working with our deck force.

WINKLER: With all this training and everything, we’re almost running out of war. So you finally get to your ship?

LUNDEBERG: Yes. I did join Frederick C. Davis in November of ’44. She had just come back from the Mediterranean, bringing a distinguished combat record. She had 13 German and Italian aircraft stenciled on her stack. She had been fitted out for a special electronic mission there earlier. When she sailed for the Mediterranean in late ’43 she was one of two ships (the other, USS Herbert C. Jones (DE 137) fitted with radio jamming gear installed at the Navy Research Lab in Washington. The purpose was to deal with Luftwaffe bombers that were using radio-controlled glider bombs against convoys and landing operations in the Med. Davis was involved initially in convoying between North Africa and Sicily. The high point of her career occurred in support of the Angio beachhead. There she was underway almost constantly, dodging not only glider bombs, which her radio operators were jamming and diverting into the sea, but also shells from huge German railway batteries. The Davis also dealt with Axis frogmen who tried to come up and put limpet mines on the hulls of our ships. Our crew recalled that they would throw two-pound stun bombs into the water periodically. They actually caught one or more of these suicide swimmers. 

The Davis compiled a fantastic record in anti-aircraft gunnery in the Med. Our gunnery crews were mostly Southern boys, volunteers, a great bunch. I served with the deck force and I knew them pretty well. Along with that ant-aircraft effort, the Davis was on constant radar alert and radio jamming. An interesting additional facet at Anzio was the group of U.S. Army C.I.C. language specialists who served on board Davis, listening on a radio frequency used by the German pilots. Thus, even before the Luftwaffe appeared, these interpreters could hear that a flight was coming in and were able to monitor the situation very well. One of them, Kurt Borris, once heard a German pilot say, “Let’s get Tante Meier.” That was a German colloquialism for the village gossip. They had figured out that the Davis had something (the jamming gear). The “Fightin Freddy” survived. The other jamming ship (the Jones) survived as well, although Jones took bomb damage. After more then six months on Operation “Shingle”, with some recreation on the isle of Capri, (which a number of our men remember vividly) they were subsequently involved in the anti-aircraft support of the invasion of Southern France. After that they came back to New York for refit at the Brooklyn Navy Yard and needed home leave. 

WINKLER: Somehow I recall maybe two or three years ago an article by a German national about Tante Meier.

LUNDEBERG: The author was Kurt Borris, one of the six Army Counter-Intelligence translators on the Davis off Anzio. I met Kurt at one of our ship reunions. Due to his ill health at the time, he was living up in Maine. They still protected his name. He was a deserter from the German 
Army prior to 1939, as were some of the others. They were enlisted in the Army’s secret CIC program. They hated the Nazi regime, proved very loyal, and they did an important job. Later Kurt was sent on a special mission into Austria to ambush Nazi officials there. I enclose a copy of Kurt’s memoir, which related his many daring wartime exploits. He died just this summer.

WINKLER: Would you describe the Davis you said as a destroyer escort?

LUNDEBERG: The Davis was a 306-foot Edsall-class DE. When I reported on board at New York my first job was to check up on hull repair work being done at the Brooklyn Navy Yard.  In that way I learned the ship interior very quickly. I had a very understanding boss, Frank Hanson who was the First Lieutenant. Our Exec, LT Ferd Bambauer, was understanding too. I was assigned to one of the damage control parties during General Quarters. If we’d been in General Quarters when we encountered U-546, I would have been with that party in our damage control locker, located amidships, almost directly above where the torpedo hit. I would not have survived either.

WINKLER: Where did you meet the ship?
LUNDEBERG: New York, Brooklyn Navy Yard.  After undocking and reloading ammo we went from there to Guantanamo Bay for ASW training operations. The Davis was being reprogrammed from an anti-aircraft mission to an ASW mission. We later acted as school ship briefly out of SCTC Miami. Then we went up to Mayport, Florida, to help escort carriers carry out flight qualifications offshore. It was there that we got the word in the middle of March 1945 to head north to Newfoundland for what proved to be Operation “Teardrop”. At that time, as a junior officer I had no understanding of what was afoot, other than that we were going to be hunting German submarines. In December 1944, less then a month after we had left New York, Mayor LaGuardia had issued a warning to the people of New York regarding the threat of a missile attack on New York. Volume Ten of the Morison history gives the background on all the Intelligence that pointed to this. Our Captain may have understood a bit about the operation, but I had no knowledge of what was really afoot, and that’s why I became interested later in the history of “Teardrop”.
WINKLER: Before we get into that aspect, a little bit more introduction, as far as, the officers of the ship, the Captain, XO, the First Lieutenant. Perhaps you might want to talk about some enlisted folks that, I don’t know if you had a Chief working for you.

LUNDEBERG: We had one Chief Boatswain’s Mate that was sent ashore rather peremptorily to what is known to bluejackets as “the clap shack.” The key man in our deck force was a young Georgian by the name of Levi Hancock. Levi was probably the most severely injured of our Davis survivors. A rugged coxswain, appropriately the Davis Master at Arms, Levi was one of the key gunners on our 3-inch/50’s at Anzio and Southern France. Most of the deck force were boys – volunteers - from the South. The rest of the crew called them “Deck Apes.” The engineers to our people were “Snipes.” The people on the bridge, the communications gang, were “Bridge Pussies.”  

Early in 1945 the Davis received its last additional draft of seaman, nearly all draftees. Many were from Appalachia and barely able to read. One of my duties was to help reteach them reading. I don’t recall that one of them survived our sinking.  In our condolence letters to their families I recalled that many had attended our simple religious services on our last cruise to Newfoundland
Our officers were a very fine group of men. The great irony, tragedy, of the Davis’ loss, was that not a single one of our ship’s company officers who had served in the Mediterranean survived. Most of them were married men. We three officers who survived were all bachelors. I was the youngest.  We visited a Baltimore widow of one our fellow officers-a very humbling experience and real motivator for writing condolence letters. 

Tape One – Side B

LUNDEBERG:  One of our three officer survivors, Ruloff “Rolf” Kip, was actually the Escort Division Radar Officer, who had been on board Davis less then a week, sent to work on some of our faulty radar. Bob Minerd was the other one, my classmate at Columbia. Minerd, as J.O. of the forenoon watch, had been in plotting the sonar contact, in CIC, at the time the torpedo hit. Our Exec, also in CIC then, was a burly Californian, Ferd Bambauer. I remember he was a jolly type, not your usual driver exec. I recall one evening when “Bam” led us in the wardroom, singing the old tavern song, “It Was Sad When That Great Ship Went Down.” Our Captain, Jim Crosby, was younger. Crosby was from Seattle, just designated a Lieutenant Commander. He acted more like an exec. One of the things that Minerd and I always regretted, was we weren’t onboard long enough to get qualified as top watch standers. That was a frustration, of course, but they didn’t have the time to mess around with that in those circumstances. 

Frank Hanson, our First Lieutenant, was a veteran of the Anzio experience. Frank was very understanding in getting me into the operation, including coaching me on damage control. His uncle, Warren Hanson, was a WWII Marine and, postwar, an Army officer. Warren devoted years to extensive research on the Davis. He interviewed me about Frank and had a large number of taped interviews, not only of people on our ship but the German survivors of the U-546 as well. He interviewed Kaptitain Paul Just, the skipper of U-546. I have a copy of the tape that Hanson made of an interview between Paul Just and himself while Paul was visiting on the West Coast. Afterwards they went to the Naval Base at San Diego and had lunch with several American submariners at the Officer’s Club. The tape summarizes Just’s wartime experiences, briefly reflected in my article on “Operation “Teardrop” Revisited” that you may have read. That article touches on our crew’s experience, and also that of the U-546 crew. Our Davis survivors have met annually for the last twenty-five years. In 1990 Bill Riemer, who’s organized these reunions over the years, arranged for us to meet at Janesville, Wisconsin. The reunion ended up at a beautiful little country cemetery near Orfordville, where Fredrick C. Davis is buried. He was a young Ensign killed at Pearl Harbor. His family had permitted Bill Riemer to mount a memorial plaque for the Frederick C. Davis on the reverse of his tombstone. That’s where we had our final ceremonies. I was the one officer from our ship that could attend. I was asked to speak, but didn’t know when I’d be called on to speak. The idea was that each person from our crew, from the ships that had rescued us, or from the U-boat crew, would give their personal experiences and reflections at one of our evening programs. As I suspected, I was the windup speaker. I knew that if I just spoke about myself it wouldn’t be appropriate, so I tried to give a summation, explaining, mostly for the Germans, the nature of our Memorial Day and the fact that Union and Confederate veterans first met in 1876 and then began to meet periodically at joint reunions, which was an important part of the healing for our nation. I’ll get you a copy of that talk, which was written the night before..

WINKLER: An overview of, as you’ve written extensively on it so there’s no need to go into a whole background of Operation “Teardrop”, but I guess if you could give an overview of the background of why you deployed up to Newfoundland and I guess the circumstances of the torpedoing.

LUNDEBERG: At that stage of the war the German U-boat service was the only part of the Wehrmacht that was really still functioning. I remember, maybe twenty years ago, reading in Admiralty documents at the Public Record office in London, an RAF intelligence commentary, starting that the German Army is dead; the Luftwaffe is grounded, in shambles; the German surface navy is sunk, but the U-boat service is still active and dangerous, operating, not from France,but from bases in Norway. This particular final operation, which aroused concern of rocket missiles, was actually a final diversionary effort on the part of the U-boat command, which was headed at that point, not by Doenitz, (he had become overall commander of the German Navy and then the Fϋhrer), but by Admiral Eberhard Godt, who had long been his deputy. RADM Morison later interviewed Godt as well as Doenitz. 

The idea of the German’s final U-boat sortie was what I call a sort of a corollary or an off-shoot of Doenitz’s “tonnage warfare” doctrine, which I deal with in my doctoral dissertation. Namely, to try to keep Allied forces away from the European Theater as much as possible, particularly air forces. In other words it exemplified the “pinning down” role of the U-boat service, late in the war, operating in the Caribbean, or wherever they could pin down allied forces far from Europe. The idea of this particular operation was that the seven boats of Gruppe “Seewolf” would return to the mid-Atlantic and resume operations against Allied convoys, this in March of 1945. These U-boats came out of Norway, undoubtedly knowing that it was all over. But they nevertheless went at it. They were instructed by Godt, “You must sink ships” and so forth. They got out there and of course found nothing. I’ve gone over the convoy records in the PRO at London covering the period. The convoys were diverted around the wolf pack. Meanwhile, our two successive barrier groups were waiting for them as they cruised slowly westward under snorkel. “Teardrop” was a tactically interesting operation because our carrier aircraft, although keeping on patrol even in terrible weather, were unable to get effective sightings on these snorkel boats. In heavy weather it’s very hard to see a periscope or a snorkel, anywhere. So the problem was simply for the long destroyer escort patrol line to dig them out, which it did. 

The first barrier group got three of the seven “Seewolf” boats. Our second barrier force came in at that point. Our ship actually got the first depth charge (one of our damaged depth charges) on the U-546. We first detected U-546.  Sometime after the war I persuaded the Bureau that we should get a combat star out of that, which they had neglected to give us. The operation was set up by VADM Jonas Ingram, then CINCLANT, and was very successful. We got five out of the seven boats. Ingram was concerned to get them all. The memory of Operation Paukenschlag in 1942,  I’m afraid, was still pretty strong at Naval Headquarters. They didn’t want another experience like that. That’s why Operation “Teardrop”, as it was laid out, involved, not only land-based air squadrons, all the way around to Greenland and the Azores, but two huge surface barrier groups. As far as I can determine, it was the largest Allied anti-submarine hunter-killer operation in the war. It was successful. It was used by Ladislas Farago in the opening chapter of his book, The Tenth Fleet, as a portent of a future Soviet submarine missile threat to our East Coast, utilizing atomic warheads.

WINKLER: No.

LUNDEBERG: That’s an interesting book. He begins his whole story about the Tenth Fleet with Operation “Teardrop.” 

WINKLER: There’s the one situation you discussed, that they didn’t want to see a repeat of…

LUNDEBERG: The Germans called the 1942 operation “Pauckenschlag” (“Drumbeat”), the blitz off the East Coast in 1942, which claimed heavy Allied tanker losses..

WINKLER: Okay, so that was the concern?
LUNDEBERG: Really the Germans didn’t have any more boats off the East Coast early in 1942, than during Operation “Seewolf”. The ultimate objective of Gruppe “Seewolf” in 1945, in March and April, was to carry out diversionary attacks on shipping off the eastern coast of the United States and Canada. There were already some individual boats there, and they were giving the Canadians a bad time, owing to difficult sonar conditions inshore. So they would have done that in our waters if they gotten through. The U-boats did not have any missile launchers. But that was the concern. When our forces sank the first three U-boats, all went down, never broke the surface of the water. No survivors, virtually no debris. But in one case there was a tremendous explosion that raised the question for one of our escort division commanders (Giambattista) who said,  “they must have something new.”  This didn’t calm nerves in Washington. The U-546 was the only boat of those five that had survivors. They were picked up by a couple of ships and then transferred to the escort carrier Bogue where most of our Davis survivors were. We didn’t know that they were on board until they actually were transferred ashore. The people on the Bogue later told me that they very carefully kept our two crews of survivors separated. They were then sent to Argentia and interrogation sessions both in Argentia and down here in Washington at Fort Hunt which is half a mile from my house and some two miles north of Mount Vernon. 

WINKLER: What was the day that the Davis was hit? 

LUNDEBERG: 24th of April, 1945, two weeks before V-E Day. When we got back to Boston with our survivors we interviewed them all. Those interviews are still in the Naval Historical Center Operational Archives. I have a set. They served, one, to help us prepare a decent action report, which was very detailed, and; two, to write personal letters to the families of the deceased. We had 115 of them to write and all three of us (Minerd, Kipp and I) wrote those. 

WINKLER: Of course, Roosevelt I guess is now dead for what…
LUNDEBERG: President Roosevelt died maybe a week or so before we were sunk. I can remember, I had been appointed religious officer on board the Davis and had held some brief services, before our sinking. We heard the news, I was tasked to have a memorial service for the President. It didn’t work out that way because the weather was bad. We were bouncing off the bulkheads. All that we could do was to have taps passed over the public address system. 

WINKLER: Before we turned the tape on you actually described the actual torpedo hit. Could you…

LUNDEBERG: Our ship had gotten a promising sound contact about 0830 in the morning. The U-546 was coming through our patrol line at periscope depth. I understand that Paul Just, the U-boat captain, saw the loom of the carrier Bogue in the background, and I think that’s what he was trying to get. But then he saw us through his periscope, coming about. As we approached, he fired his stern torpedo, an acoustic T-5 torpedo. It hit us at a range of 650 yards, which I think is practically point-blank. The Davis jack-knifed. All of the engine room spaces flooded very rapidly. The bridge area had sustained a tremendous wallop. The deck of the wardroom was blown halfway to the overhead, so you could imagine what happened to the people in the wardroom. I had been sleeping in the wardroom after I came off watch, early that morning. 

WINKLER: Were you JR for the bridge or CIC?

LUNBEBURG: CIC, yes.  After coming off the midwatch, I just laid down on the couch in the wardroom, expecting we’d be going to General Quarters again. Bob Minerd came down to get a cup of coffee. He said, “Phil, there’s nothing much going on. Why don’t you go back aft and get some real sleep.” Which I did. That’s why I survived. Coxswain Levi Hancock was in the forward crew’s mess hall, just coming up the ladder when the torpedo hit. He saw the bulkhead from the forward engine room cave in. He saw everybody killed immediately. He bounded up out of the hatch onto the main deck with a shattered leg. That was one of our survivors’ most dramatic memories, which Levi recounted at Janesville. Our skipper, Captain Jim Crosby, was killed on the bridge. The officer-of-the-deck, Lt(jg) John McWhorter, was catapulted all the way down to the forward 3”50 gun tub. When we interviewed the crew at Boston we tried to find out if anybody knew anything about the fate of our captain. One of our sonar men, Eugene Pakanowski, had been up there at the time, came out of the sound shack and had seen the whole situation on the flying bridge, but had been so shocked that he couldn’t deal with it at the time. I ran into him in the street in Washington maybe a year or so later on. He explained to me that Captain Crosby had literally been split right down the middle by one of the mainmast’s metal steel shrouds. When I explained this to Admiral Morison I suggested that somehow we better not be too graphic for the sake of the family, so he wrote in the narrative that Crosby was felled by a shroud. So that was another elusive vignette that we managed to include. 

I was very fortunate. When the torpedo hit I was asleep in after officer’s quarters. I can remember sort of a metallic bang, as if we had a collision. I managed to get the door of after officer’s quarters open and started heading out, getting some people to try and close the watertight hatches that were not closed as yet. The deck began to incline and we knew it was going down. We went topside and tried to deal with the depth charges. Most of our men were already in the water. When I went into the water it was not like Midshipmen’s School, where we jumped off a tower thirty-five feet as if we were leaping from an aircraft carrier deck. I literally walked right into the water and then managed to get out to a life raft and was there when one or more of our depth charges went off. That’s where we got underwater blast concussion, which was not understood by all the ships that dealt with us. One of the ships, the USS Flaherty (DE 135), a sister-ship, came in and started rescuing. They got three men, including Levi Hancock, but then they got contact on the submarine and so they had to go off on that. Most of us were in the water about an hour, an hour and a quarter. Some were in about four hours and there were unfortunately some of those who didn’t get Purple Hearts at the time. We dealt with that recently, with great help from Senator John Warner of Virginia, a Navy veteran himself. 

Belatedly I discovered, through research, that there was another U-boat immediately in the area as well, U-805. I read it in her log which is in the Manuscript Division of the Library of Congress. The U-805 log recorded depth charges in what they call middle distance, so that the ships that were risking picking us up before U-546 was sunk were doubly endangered. If the skipper of U-805 (Bernardelli) had been aggressive, none of us would have survived. But it was late in the war, he was an older officer than Paul Just. He just headed north, got out of there you see. I think the experience that Paul Just and his men had at Argentia and down here at Fort Hunt was a result not only of concerns about the supposed missile threat and desire to get the information urgently but also the fact that this late in the war the Germans were that aggressive. Paul Just actually was the only U-boat commander in Gruppe Seewolf that carried out attacks on escorts, actually of both of those barrier groups. I visited him in Germany several years before he died. He went back into the German Navy after the war. He in effect was one of our NATO Allies. He and his second officer, Peter Schoeneich, who was also at the reunion in 1990, were very appreciative to the United States for everything that it did for Germany during the Cold War period. They have a lot of friends in this country. 

WINKLER: It’s kind of cold in the water up there. 

LUNDEBERG: It was about 45 degrees. We were suffering from hypothermia and it sort of froze our people. Seaman Ray Adcock recalled that when he was picked up by USS Otter, they told him that his blood was beginning to freeze. For people who go through a depth charging, even though they had no external flesh wounds, the common feature is shock. Most of us had no recollection of actually being picked up or rescued. I was brought on board the Hayter. They tell me that I answered some questions, but I have no memory of that at all. The last thing I remember is seeing a ship approaching and then waking up in a bunk. Sheer animal instinct under shock carried us through.

WINKLER: Do you recall seeing the Davis go under?

LUNDEBERG: No, not at all. We were in the swells there you know. You don’t sit in a life raft, you just hold on to a life raft and try and keep your head up out of the water. We had a few instances, where people went a little bit berserk and tipped their life raft over. We lost some people in the water from the depth charges or from exhaustion. One ship, the Otter picked up eighteen deceased men and eight who were alive. One, Palumbo, was badly injured. When the escort carrier Core reported back to Minerd’s inquiry from BuPers about what happened to these men, they explained that the one man had had surgery and that the others were, quote “in good health.” They didn’t understand that these men were not only survivors of the ship sinking but they had survived the depth charging as well. People passed blood in their urine. They passed blood through their rectums, as in my experience. That’s not in the medical record at all, probably not even observed. 

WINKLER: Although you would think by this time of the war there would be something they would look for because they had four years of this type of…

LUNDEBERG: The Navy Medical Corps had developed documentation on such injuries early in the war. We include this material in our correspondence with Senator John Warner. The Navy had held a symposium on underwater blast or immersion blast concussion in 1942, based probably on the experience of the Rueben James and Jacob Jones. They published it, with articles including photographs of autopsies of men with ruptured guts, intestines, lungs, and so forth. They knew this phenomenon. I’m giving you a copy of the 1943 BuMed instruction on first aid for survivors of disasters at sea. One of the things, on the very first page they get into this business of underwater blast concussion at sea, and the fact that shock is the most evident thing but that’s not all. We were in sick bays on board the Bogue and the Core. The Bogue did a great job. When we got back to Boston there was no follow up. We were not taken to any hospitals despite the fact that we had all been depth charged. The only thing I can remember in the short term about all this experience was a strong aversion to sudden loud noises. Remarkably, I have never dreamt about this episode.
WINKLER: Okay.

LUNDEBERG: When we were on board the carrier Bogue, our ships continued the operation, hunting submarines. They weren’t in any rush to get us ashore. They were in a rush to get the Germans ashore. They needed to find out what was going on. 

WINKLER: Of course the war ended shortly thereafter.

LUNDEBERG: Yes. 

WINKLER: One thing which you mentioned earlier is the fact that the Germans shot an acoustic torpedo and your sitting on top of the screws, just under the officer’s quarters. 

LUNDEBERG: Yes.

WINKLER: You theorize that the targeting goal…

LUNDEBERG: Exactly. In other words, on our approach we evidently swung a little bit away from directly on him, the torpedo caught us amidships even though it was headed for the screws.  That’s a pretty graphic example of the nature of mircrohistory. 

One of the things I can remember, in 1955 while I was teaching at St. Olaf College, Morison asked me to come back for a couple of weeks as he was winding up Volume 10. He asked me to read the final text. Dick Pattee was also on his staff. Here, this is a picture of Morison’s staff at that time. This is Dick Pattee, myself, and Morison, Roger Pineau and the Admiral’s yeoman, Don Martin. One of things that Morison said in the final draft chapter of the volume was that, in contrast to the German Imperial Navy, Hitler’s Navy expired with a whine and a whimper. I said let’s review this. Dick backed me up. I said the German Navy in World War I mutinied. My experience in Operation Teardrop was that they fought hard to the very end. So the Admiral changed that comment. That’s the one time that I can remember forcefully contradicting him. He took it in good grace.

WINKLER: How much longer did you stay once you got back into Boston, the war is over, not quite because you still had Japan? 

LUNDEBERG: At Boston our first job was to get the crew their seabags and uniforms. Then they took our three officer survivors next. A supply officer got us in his room and said, “Well gentlemen, of course the Navy doesn’t provide officers uniforms, you go out and buy them. According to Navy Regulations, we have to reimburse you depending on the age of your uniforms,” in effect discounted for wear. But then he said, “I understand that yours were brand new.” So we decided that’s the Navy way. I went on leave and then I decided that maybe I better learn something more about the theory and practice of damage control. I went to Damage Control School in Philadelphia and then was ordered to the USS McCoy Reynolds (DE 440), which at that time was at Okinawa preparing for the invasion of Japan. So if it hadn’t been for the atomic bomb I would have been in the invasion of Japan. I’d actually gotten as far as San Francisco when VJ Day occurred.

Tape Two Side A

WINKLER: I guess you caught up with the destroyer somewhere out in the Pacific. 

LUNDEBERG: I chased the ship a long way. I proceeded through Pearl Harbor to Okinawa where I understood the McCoy Reynolds was. I arrived there and I was told that the McCoy Reynolds was now in Japan and that I should stand by for transportation up there. That was soon countermanded and I was informed, after all that pursuit, that she had preceded back to San Diego. So I completed the loop of the Pacific and put her out of commission in San Diego in the early part of 1946. That was a period in which we were trying to get the ships mothballed and at the same time maintain some morale among the men, who naturally wanted to get home. That was an interesting period. I actually asked my skipper to be transferred to a ship at sea. I was interested at that time in pursuing a naval career, but they really didn’t need more young officers at that point. So I decided, well all right I’ll go back to graduate school, which I did after I came out of the service in 1946.That transcontinental train trip is a perfect blank in my memories! 

WINKLER: Where were you discharged at? 

LUNDEBERG: I was discharged at San Diego. I actually got my last papers at Los Angeles and then headed home by train, in time to begin a Masters Degree in History at Duke University in the fall of 1946.

WINKLER: So you’re back and… Home is Duke University, because that’s where your parents are still. 

LUNDEBERG: Yeah.

WINKLER: Did you stay in the Reserves?

LUNDBERG: I did not stay in the Reserves then. I did my Masters at Duke. I wrote a thesis there in Southern History and then I had the decision of where to pursue the Doctorate. My choices were the University of Minnesota and field of American Civilization or Harvard and straight American History. I decided Harvard on the basis of my knowledge of the two schools. Ropp had been at Harvard and there were some stellar historians there. The stars of the Harvard History Department at that time were: Arthur Schlesinger, Sr. in American Social History; Frederick Merk in the History of the Westward Movement; Samuel Eliot Morison in Colonial History; and young Dick Leopold teaching Diplomatic History. I was fortunate enough to take Leopold’s course, first class in both critical content and pedagogical style. 

During my first year there I took a seminar on the Westward Movement with Frederick Merk and thought of doing a dissertation on the history of the Milwaukee Railroad. Merk knew enough about the checkered history of that railroad to realize that I‘d run into a lot of stonewalling. At the end of my first year, in the spring of 1948, I asked Morison if I could go down to his Washington office and write up Operation “Teardrop”, which I didn’t even know the name at that point. So I did. His staff liked what I did and Henry Reck, who’d been his specialist in German records, suggested that I consider doing a dissertation on the later half of the Battle of the Atlantic. I basically did that. In the fall of 1949 I served as Morison’s assistant in his course on American Naval History, History 63 at Harvard. It was an interesting experience. Morison used Commodore Knox’s History of the U.S. Navy, and I’ve always liked that book. It’s still the most handy history of the U.S. Navy. One of the reasons for its utility is that when Knox writes about a ship he’ll give the commanding officer’s name. Commodore Knox was the grand old man of naval history of course. When I eventually got on duty in Morison’s office in 1950, Commodore Knox was still there, paddling around, I think a sort of gray eminence role, helping, suggesting things to Admiral Heffernan, and so forth. 

The course in naval history at Harvard was interesting, held in old Harvard Hall, Washington’s headquarters during the siege of Boston. Most of the students were veterans, as we virtually all were at that time. Robert Higham was one of the Naval History course students. He was a young veteran of the RAF and later went on to a distinguished career in military history and the history of aviation. Morison was very discriminating about using graphics, in particular charts. He always wanted to have them in the classroom, so that his students could follow the action. His interest there was operational history, which in that period, most of us thought, was about all there was in naval history. That was a good background for my eventually teaching at the Naval Academy, where the operational side of naval history was dominant.   

When I started my tour at the Office of Naval History in January 1950 I was on active duty there for two years, working on what was a classified version of what would be my dissertation. It included all the official documentation. What I was doing was not only dealing with individual operations but trying to get the broad picture. In the case of individual operations I was taking our action reports and then going to the war diary of the U-boat Command to find out what U-boats were in the area and then going to the individual microfilms of the U-boats and getting the narrative, putting it all together. That documentation is all in the classified manuscript which remains in the Operational Archives of the Office of Naval History. It’s never been released. When I was doing that I had no knowledge of the Ultra business. The only thing I can remember is Dick Pattee saying to me was, “Phil, we can’t get into Communications Intelligence.” Well, I had no problem because I had the U-boat Command War Diary, and I had the individual U-boat war diaries. And from the U-boat Command War Diary I was able to get the key to the whole narrative flow of my dissertation. I pointed out in the introduction that the war in the Atlantic in that period seemingly involved a lot of scattered action.  But the thing that pulled this all together intellectually was Doenitz’s concept of “tonnage warfare”, namely deploying his boats in those ocean or pelagic areas where he could get the most Allied sinkings with the least loss to his U-boat force. The classic principle of economy of force. What I tried to bring out also was that this dictum didn’t always govern his operations. He was obliged to commit U-boats to the North Russia convoy routes, to try to stop that vital reinforcement of Russia, even though he took heavy losses. The other aspect, as I mentioned earlier, was his concept of “pinning down” operations, sending boats out to areas where there might not be too many sinkings to be made but nevertheless to pin down Allied forces, particularly air forces. Operation “Teardrop” was basically a part of that pattern. That’s the theoretical basis for the dissertation that most interested me - Doenitz’s “tonnage warfare” concept. I dealt with that in a number of articles that I’ve written. The first article, “La Replique des Etats Unis `a la Guerre au Tonnage”, appeared in the International Review of Military History of the Second World War. That was in effect a summation of the dissertation. My dissertation itself caused great consternation even in the declassified version, which is here in both Operational Archives and the Navy Department Library, as well as the Naval Academy Library. 

It was reviewed by Public Affairs and Naval Intelligence and you can see some of that documentation. It was also referred to the British. It got into a controversial area: the control of anti-submarine operations over the Bay of Biscay. We had some AAF squadrons down in North Africa. The British thought it would be more effective to have all of it under one command which would have been their RAF Coastal Command. Admiral King eventually got the Army Air Forces Anti-Submarine Command out of the picture and got Navy squadrons in there. That part of the dissertation caused heartburn in Public Affairs. Eventually the dissertation was approved. Admiral John B. Heffernan was actually the only reader besides Morison. There were no other Harvard professors who read it, at least officially, though one probably had a private look at it. It rested up in the Harvard Archives, read by just a few people, judging in the checkout card. It was a survivor's contribution, in effect, to the history of naval operations in World War Two. Bill Dudley issued official authority to Harvard to release it for publication by University Microfilms in 1997. There are copies at our Navy Library here and at our Naval Academy Library as well as at the Library of Congress.

WINKLER: That’s the declassified…

LUNDEBERG: Yeah, yeah. The Office of Naval History sent it over to the 

British Admiralty for review. My papers include those reviews. To go back a bit, in 1951, Morison had sent me over to London, to research in the Admiralty Archives on the North Russia convoy story. That was a very interesting three-week assignment. There I met two British officers who were then doing what I now realize was one of the secret British staff histories, a study on the effectiveness of convoy in World War II. They were, David Waters (I’ve known him for many years) and Commander George Barley. Barley later wrote the critique of my dissertation and felt, as did Waters, that I did not emphasize the importance of convoys enough. The British were and remain hipped on that for obvious reasons. Barley also felt that my style was a little bit immature. You see, I was dealing repeatedly with the same type of anti-submarine action. If I used the phrase, for instance, “Opening wide his throttle as he barreled into the attack,” that didn’t go. Morison ultimately suggested to me I should be reading my Scripture and more Elizabethan prose to get the action words, as you will see in his comments. At any rate, this reflected what I was reading in the war diaries, as indicated in my statement on the British review. I was trying to give some relief to the same dreary story of death at sea. 

At any rate the classified version of the dissertation was finally completed, at which point Morison said, in effect, “We don’t seem to be able to get it through in this form.” He urged me to compress it all to about ten thousand words. He said that Harvard will accept that. Well, you look at that dissertation – that’s not ten thousand words. That would be forty pages. This is 470 pages. So that caused problems. Anyway, we got it done. 

At Harvard, when you have the final doctoral examination, it’s not just on the dissertation, it’s on the entire historical field. In this case, U.S. History since 1789. After three years on the dissertation I was not prepared to do that. My dissertation was finished in ’53. I managed to get my doctoral exams finished in ’54 while teaching at St. Olaf College. 

I came out of the degree process, went into teaching at a St. Olaf college where my grandfather Boraas had taught. My father was also a graduate. I taught there two years and enjoyed it very much. I had a wonderful group of students. This is all pre-60’s you see. Lutheran students, very well behaved, well motivated. When there was a football game below the campus, half of the students would still be in the library – a very dedicated group. The first year I taught there I had five classes, four of Introductory World History, and one advanced course, American Economic History. I had thirty-five students in each freshmen section and about twenty in the advanced course. The second year, I had fifty students in each of the freshmen sections. I had over 230 students on the roll books and lost my ability to greet my students by name when meeting them on campus. When I went to the Naval Academy I had four sections of fifteen midshipmen each. I really was able to counsel them individually. I enjoyed teaching at the Naval Academy very much and would have remained there. I had no intention of ever going into the museum field. After a year or so, Ned Potter invited me to join his naval history committee and teach the Naval History course. I contributed a chapter to the Potter-Nimitz text, Sea Power, dealing with the U-boat war in the Atlantic in World War II. 

WINKLER: Let me go back a little bit [garbled word or words] pick it up there. What I wanted to do was ask you… You left the Navy and then you…, in 1950 Morison gets you down to Washington at the Naval Historical Center.

LUNDEBERG: Right. Active duty job 1950-52.
WINKLER: Active duty. How did that happen?

LUNDEBERG: It’s all in there. He talked to Admiral Heffernan on the basis of what I had done in that two-week summer duty, writing up Operation Teardrop, and Heffernan arranged it. According to Henry Reck, another staff member (Albert Harkness) had done the same thing, did a dissertation at Brown University on the early part of the war in the Pacific, the Philippines and the Malay Archipelago. From early 1950 I was on active duty as his assistant in OP-29. I was translating the German side of the hill, the way Roger Pineau was doing the Japanese side. I took over from Henry Reck. I had not been on Morison’s staff during the War. Most of those people had gone their way soon after the war’s end. George Elsey, who was a naval aide in the Truman Administration had earlier been with the Morison program, covering Operation “Overlord”. I think that Elsey would be a very fruitful person about the relationship between the White House and the Naval History Program of that period. I had a very good relationship with Admiral Heffernan. 

He persuaded me, without too much arm twisting, to become a life member of the Naval Historical Foundation, I guess that was in 1951. He, Dick Pattee, and I were frequently involved in assisting at the public lectures which were sponsored by the Foundation, most of them held in the auditorium of the Interior Department. Those lectures were a vehicle for Morison. Every time he had a new volume in the operational history series coming out he would give a lecture on it. There were other speakers that were brought in as well, including Admiral Halsey. Halsey was unhappy with Morison’s volume on Leyte Gulf. 

Admiral Halsey requested and got equal time; he gave his views in a Foundation lecture. The interesting thing was that Dick Pattee was seconded to do the documentary research for Halsey’s lecture. Pattee… If you could ever find Pattee he would be a very interesting person to interview also. I’ve suggested to Dean Allard that someone ought to do a study of the personnel planning logistics of the whole Morison program. The McClintock Study deals with the Naval Reservists in the Naval History Program in World War II, but it focuses mostly on the Office of Naval History operation at the Navy Department, the documentation side of it. It’s very good as far as showing what Dick Leopold and Walter Whitehill’s group did in organizing the records at the Navy Department, so they’re in good shape. Morison’s program is mentioned just tangentially. There are only about two of his assistants who are mentioned in there, wartime assistants, Henry Solomon and James C. Shaw. Dean Allard is probably best in position to do this study. I wouldn’t want to do it, because having been involved, it wouldn’t be appropriate. I’ve already talked to Dean a little bit about my experience. He may find this oral history useful as well.

WINKLER: what was your rank? Were you brought over [unclear words] as a Lieutenant? 

LUNDEBERG: I came in as a j.g. and I made Lieutenant while I was on active duty there in Op-29. One of the curious things was a promotion cartoon presented to me with a freshly minted Lieutenant with the eagle on his cap looking down at him quizzically. It was signed by all the staff, including Commodore Knox, which was a nice connection. 
WINKLER: During this time frame you got the Korean War going on.

LUNDEBERG: I was in that, yeah.

WINKLER: Did that have any impact on what you were doing at the Historical Center?

LUNDEBERG: Not a thing. 

WINKLER: Just thought I’d ask. 

LUNDEBERG: I was brought back in for a month in ’55 to advise on the final draft of Volume Ten. My subsequent Naval Service: I got into the Intelligence Reserve while teaching at the Naval Academy, it must have been ’57. When the unit was moved up to Baltimore, I served as Officer-in-Charge of the group up there. During those years I had mobilization billets in Bonn, West Germany, and Monrovia, Liberia. When I went on a Sabbatical leave to England in 1959, I did drills over there at Audley Street in London. I finally wound up drilling with the Naval Intelligence Group at the Washington Navy Yard, was there for a while and then was finally washed out as they periodically do. I was very happy that they were able to retire me. 

WINKLER: Now when you went to the Naval Academy to teach, that was as a civilian?
LUNDEBERG: As a civilian, yes. The way they did it in my day, appointments were based on competitive examinations. They would bring a number of people who wanted to teach there. I resigned at St. Olaf College, took the exam and was accepted at Annapolis. The examination was interesting. First of all you graded several student exam bluebooks. Then you had a physical examination (If you had a mustache you wouldn’t have made it.) Then you had an oral exam with a department committee.  That three-fold exam was very interesting. I had actually had had contact with the people in Annapolis while I was at St. Olaf. Bob Langdon, who was an Associate Editor with Naval Institute Proceedings had asked me to do a review of the German naval literature of World War Two, which I did, and got into a range of German naval literature, including Friedrick Ruge’s Der Seekrieg. 

So I was soon up to speed as far as the naval history group at Annapolis was concerned. I began publishing in Naval History from there on. Then, out of the blue, in 1959, after four years there at the Academy, I was invited to come over and join the Department of Armed Forces History at the Smithsonian Institution’s National Museum of History and Technology. I had never intended to go into museum work and had no training in museology. That was true of several other new curators who were brought in as the new museum was being staffed. For us it was “on the job training” for several years. But we knew our historical subject matter, which was vital for preparing the new Museum’s exhibits. 

WINKLER: Talking a little bit about the Naval Academy during that time period, all the Midshipmen are basically taking the same curriculum.

LUNDEBERG: Yes, I was there the last year of the Standard Curriculum. We were teaching the Potter-Nimitz Sea Power text at that point. I had also taught American diplomatic history and world history at various times. In 1958, the deal was proposed, that if I would teach economics in the first semester, I could teach naval history in the second. Bill Jefferies, the head of the department, moved people around. Adaptability . . . The needs of the service! The last semester that I taught at Annapolis, I taught a course on classics of world literature, which in effect enable our seniors, the first-classman, to read a book and get an impression of it rapidly. In other words, get them out of the text book mode. So I taught a course on Man’s Search for Self-Knowledge, starting with St. Augustine’s Confessions and working through to Arthur Koestler’s Darkness at Noon. I enjoyed teaching Midshipmen tremendously. 

They were well rounded. Our teaching staff was, as at a prep school, encouraged to be involved in extracurricular activities with the Midshipmen. I was an assistant coach in battalion football. I was also involved in coaching intercollegiate debate. I went on debate trips with them and so forth. It was a good experience. I would never have left Annapolis except I had this sort of “none such” bolt from the blue about the Smithsonian, and it’s new history museum being planned there. Evidently I had been recommended by my Harvard mentor, Prof. Morison. 

WINKLER: So you end up getting a phone call from Washington. What did it take to pull you away from the Naval Academy?

LUNDEBERG: It was an unusual situation, to go join, in the formative period of that institution. That museum had, for seventy years, been in the old Arts and Industries Building, right next to the old Smithsonian Castle. The new museum was being created to do two things, to deal with the history of the United States, but also to deal with the history of science and technology. A very tough proposition. That museum was partly modeled on the Deutsches Museum in Munich, which is essentially a technology museum, with the treasures of German invention. The man who was the founder and director of our new museum was Frank Taylor, the greatest man I knew at the Smithsonian by far. As a matter of fact I have in here a biography of his military career in World War II. I persuaded him to give us his World War II uniform and I wrote this paper to document that uniform. At any rate, about a year into our preparations for the new museum, I was suddenly asked if I wanted to become Secretary of yet another organization called the National Armed Forces Museum Advisory Board, which would be developing plans for a separate Armed Forces Museum, somewhere on the Potomac. I thought about it and I said I want to remain with the National Museum.

Tape Two – Side B 

WINKLER: This is side two. We are continuing on talking about your philosophy about the Armed Forces.

LUNDEBERG: Yes, I was a part of the Department of Armed Forces History. I was the Naval Curator in that. I wanted to stay with that because I felt that our Armed Forces history belonged with the rest of our National history - the diplomatic history, the political history, the economic history, in that museum. My instinct arose from appreciation of Morison’s emphasis on the validity of the various facets in the spectrum of national history: political, military, diplomatic, economic, cultural, social… Morison had, as a rising young historian, been increasingly critical of the economic determinism that had emerged after World War I, essentially ignoring many of these well defined fields (notably in the case of Charles Beard).  No debunker, Morison once described himself to me as a “rebunker.” I felt that our rendition of our armed forces history would emerge less parochial if developed in proximity to our new Museum’s developing halls of political, industrial, and agricultural exhibits.  Our fruitful collaboration with Chapelle in transportation certainly validated that view. 


The reality was that the museum was not large enough to handle both the history of the United States and the history of science and technology in one building. It could if it were enlarged now.  Frank Taylor’s philosophy was that no exhibit could remain static for more then ten years. Actually our Armed Forces Hall lasted for forty years before it has recently been replaced. He also felt that in twenty years some of the parts of the museum would have to be moved out because of size. What happened at that museum is that the conception of American History expanded, as it did in academia, and various parts were diminished in order to give room for others. They could solve it only by enlarging that museum or pulling parts out. Right now they’re in some distress because, on the one hand they have some large endowments, including about 18 million for an Armed Forces Hall, and at the same time are concerned that the donors will be too much involved in the conception of what’s appropriate for these exhibits. When I was in the old Arts and Industries Building we had progressed in exhibit technique from early 20th Century exhibits, which were in effect exhibits on our great military leaders, essentially the uniforms and decorations of naval and military officers. Well before I arrived, Mendel Peterson, the Chairman of Armed Forces History, had set up two chronological exhibits on the Navy and the Army, in separate halls. 

When the new Museum of History and Technology was conceived, Peterson was the man who was tasked by Frank Taylor to develop Hall of Armed Forces History. Peterson, recently deceased, picked up on the rationale of the unified Department of Defense for the new Armed Forces Hall. We’re going to have a unified Hall of Armed Forces History. To do that, we then had, on a chronological basis, to decide, how much space to allocate in peacetime and war to each of the services. The Marine Corps got in but it didn’t get as much as the Corps would have liked. The Coast Guard was snuck in there because it had started as our first Federal Sea Service under the Constitution. The collaboration between me and my military curatorial  counterpart, Major Edgar (“Dixie”) Howell was very amiable in making space divisions. It worked out well. We got the Hall opened through the Civil War. It was reviewed favorably by a committee of scholars but was overtaken by the malaise of the Vietnam War here, which later killed the National Armed Forces Museum project, and, in effect, halted much further development in the Hall of Armed Forces History. One of the elements we had early on in the Hall of Armed Forces History was a Hall of Orders, Decorations and Medals, in which we displayed not only the service medals and decorations of our Armed Services, but representative medals from European orders as well. And of course the connection was that many of our World War leaders received European decorations as well. 

We had General Marshall’s uniform in that hall and we had Admiral King’s uniform. I had gone to Admiral King’s family and asked for one of his uniforms. They generously gave me all of his uniforms. They’re there now in our naval history reference collections. The King family asked me if I wanted the Admiral’s papers as well. I said, that “They belong in the Naval Historical Foundation collection in the Manuscript Division of the Library of Congress. That’s how we got the Ernest J. King uniform collection, including his decorations and butane cigarette lighter, celebrating his reputation as “old Blow Torch.”
WINKLER: That’s how we got it. Thank you.

LUNDEBERG: The thing that amazed me is was that no one had asked the King family up to that point, and this is probably around ’62 or ’63. That’s a long time. 

WINKLER: That’s right.
LUNDEBERG: I attribute it to the fact that people were still so in awe of Admiral King. He terrorized our Navy into its superb performance of World War Two, you know that. 

WINKLER: The thing which you had going for you was the Centennial of the Civil War at that time period, so that was fortuitous…

LUNDEBERG: Yes, and we had coming up in 1976 the Bicentennial of the American Revolution. I proposed to our administration (we were asked to make suggestions), that we program a series of one-year exhibits on the archaeology of the American Revolution, featuring not only military sites, but other economic and political sites as well. Given the internal communications within our museum, this suggestion never got to our director. We did an exhibit instead in the old Arts and Industries Building which was, in effect, a recreation of the Philadelphia Centennial Exhibition of 1876. 

WINKLER: Which was a good exhibit.

LUNDEBERG: The only exhibit that I was remotely involved in with concerning the American Revolution overall was providing exhibits for a major exhibition at the National Maritime Museum in Greenwich, on the American War of Independence. And we went over to Greenwich and gave a paper on the gunboat Philadelphia. And then in 1981, I was asked (a sudden inspiration of Secretary Ripley) to serve as curator of a Smithsonian exhibit on the anniversary of Yorktown. He thought that, logically, it should be in the American History Museum. The then director of our Museum was not interested in that. A previous director had resigned because he did not want to deal with the American Revolution. Thus we mounted that exhibit in the Smithsonian Castle. It all occurred because the American ambassador to France had written to Secretary Ripley in some anguish saying “We’ve got to do something for a recognition of the French contribution, in Washington. The Carter Administration had decided it was all going to be down in Yorktown. Well, I got the thing on short notice, and we got the French Embassy involved. They were very, very helpful and we had enough things so that we did, I think, a good exhibit under the rubric, “By Sea and By Land,” (de Grasse and Rochambeau.) 

It pleased the French as it enabled us to deal with it in the context of the importance of the French genius in the art of war and the technology of war in that era, particularly artillery, fortification and siege warfare. We emphasized that the siege of Yorktown provided a classic example of the ideal in that age of achieving decisive military results with a minimum of human loss, particularly to non-combatants. It was a very satisfying experience, under great time pressure. 

To go back to other exhibits that I did, they included all the naval exhibits in our Armed Forces Hall, including the Continental Gunboat Philadelphia. Over the years though, I was involved in exhibits in other parts of the Smithsonian. I helped Roger Pineau when he put on his M.C. Perry “Black Ships” Exhibit at the Natural History Museum. I was involved, even after I retired, in the Wilkes Expedition exhibit, “Magnificent Voyages”, which was in the Natural History for a year. It was a remarkable committee collaboration. We had Joyce Lenhardt from the Naval Historical Center involved, people for the National Archives, and NOAA, a committee effort that actually produced an excellent exhibit book even before the exhibit opened. After being on exhibit there for a year it went on the road for over another year. I lectured at the Washington Historical Society at Tacoma and at the Peabody Museum in Salem, Massachusetts, the last of the five touring exhibit sites. So that was a really very, very satisfying experience. 

That gets me around to another facet of my experience at the Smithsonian, graduate teaching. When I was teaching at the Naval Academy, I was teaching and trying to publish but I was not an administrator. The way I explain the difference between being in a museum - an historian in a museum - and a historian in a university, is that in a university you try to two of three things well: administer, teach well, research and publish. In a museum I was doing about seven things, and I won’t bother to go into them. But one of those extra duties was to deal, in the period of the 50’s and 60’s, with problems that the Smithsonian was having with museum security. And that’s where my experience as a naval damage control officer came in. We had bomb threats on the Mall frequently. We had a problem of semi-riotous demonstrations that were mounted on the Washington Monument grounds and would come over to our museum for our bathroom and restaurant facilities. 

The philosophy of the Smithsonian in that period was, and it remains I think, to keep open and hospitable under virtually all circumstances. But try to protect the public, our staff and the National collections. Our guard force couldn’t do that alone. So I was put in charge of a staff committee on museum security. We organized our entire staff. We had received an instruction from across the Mall, in some 34-pages, on what to do in the case of various emergencies. I said to our deputy director, Robert Tillotson, “Let me boil this down to a one-page battle bill,” which we did. We posted it by each person’s desk. They knew what they would do in each circumstance. We trained them in evacuation and bomb threat routines and so forth. I think that we were probably at the height of security readiness in that period. Of course, security being what it is, it goes down, unless you are gigged up by new embarrassments. But that was a very interesting aspect of my career, reminding me of my active duty routines in the naval service.. 

I had some wonderful colleagues at the Smithsonian, particularly Howard I. Chapelle, who was the dean of historians of the American sailing ship era. I worked with Chap, he had gotten started on a series of models, of sailing ship models, for our chronological Armed Forces Hall. We needed models to complement the Steel Navy models that the Navy had on loan to us. This enabled us to show where the Navy’s home had been from the earliest period. I took over the whole business of researching and contracting for these models. They were all built on the basis of competitive contracts. We got them at great prices because our contractors wanted to get their models in the National Museum. We built, ultimately, some seventy models. Many of them right from Chapelle’s History of the American Sailing Navy, with deck and rigging elaborations of course. But that involved a lot of very interesting research. I would come in early in the morning to avoid the traffic, Chap lived over at Hunting Towers in Alexandria. We’d get the real day’s business done before working hours started. 
You may recall that he was involved for many years in the controversy about the USS Constellation at Baltimore Harbor. Chap asked me to go up with him to check out a collection, a so-called “Theodore Roosevelt Collection,” at the Naval War College at Newport, Rhode Island. It was supposed to be there. We went up there, discovered there wasn’t such a collection. An article had been published in the Maryland Historical Journal based heavily on the alleged documentation at Newport. That was a figment of their imagination. Chap was resolute in his opposition to recognizing that vessel as the original frigate. Ultimately Dana Wegner, who was one of our later interns, pretty well nailed that. The Director of Naval History called me over one time and asked me about all this and suggested to me that it was dangerous to my professional career to be associated with Chapelle. With respect, I told him, “ Admiral, I suggest that you get the Office of Naval Intelligence to investigate the falsification of federal documents in the National Archives. For instance, one of the original drafts of the Frigate Constellation, Chapelle discovered, had been altered by someone writing in “not used.” There was enough funny business going on in that whole effort that ultimately, in order to get continued funding they decided they’d better deal accurately with the whole thing. It is now being preserved as the 32-gun sloop-of-war Constellation of 1854. That was an example of tension, one of the rare examples of tension, between the Smithsonian and the Office of Naval History. It was resolved over time you see. 

WINKLER: What was the Office of Naval History’s stake in continuing the War of 1812 myth on the Constellation?

LUNDEBERG: I think they felt that the Constellation’s story was such an inspiring story, it exemplified the fighting history of the Navy. They were emotionally involved in it. Dana Wegner settled the matter effectively in his book. The Original Frigate Constellation had been taken into the Norfolk Navy Yard in 1854. It was taken down, dismantled completely at one site and then the new vessel was built in another site, probably using some of the original timbers. That was the connection. And Chapelle never contested that at all. He was a purist as a naval architect, as his numerous books attest. He was concerned about the authenticity of the hull lines of a ship. He was a sheer, half breadth, and body man. He had a tremendous collection of half models at the Smithsonian. We ended up, temporarily with the Naval Academy’s half model collection as well. You’d see Chapelle feeling the body of a half model, gauging the run of that ship model and you could see him putting that on a sheer, half breadth and body plan in his mind. He earlier had a controversy with Marion Brewington at one point over authorship, who was the real architect of the first Federal frigates. He outraged Brewington and his friend by analyzing the existing plans of these vessels, which were unsigned, in terms of the architect’s style of drafting. Only Chapelle could do that. 

Chap was an unusual cross-disciplinary bird. Originally he was a naval architect, specializing in yacht design, who suddenly, in mid-career, decided to do the history of American sailing ships. When he published his books, the only references he gave you, on the drawings, were the National Archives numbers for the original drafts. And that doesn’t go down well with the academic historians. Yet Chapelle established the field. Frank Taylor brought him in a few years before I came to the Smithsonian, put him in charge of the National Watercraft Collection, originally consisted of American fishing vessels. He first renovated a number of models that they had, but he then built a whole series of full-sized models showing the evolution of sailing merchant ships in this country. His exhibits in the new National Museum of History and Technology were sort of public storage, in terms of history of ship design, by various categories. That hall was later revised by my late colleague Melvin Jackson, a student of Robert Albion, to include human dimension. 

Chapelle had also started our model program in naval history, which was vital because we had very small naval collections in the Smithsonian. We had some uniforms of naval officers from the Civil War and Spanish-American War. We had models lent by the Navy. Our naval edged weapons were actually held by Military History. We had very little in the way of uniforms of Navy enlisted men. One of the early things I did was to ask the Navy to give us a current set of enlisted uniforms so we could start the process. By contrast, the Army Quartermaster Corps had been collecting pattern samples of its uniforms back to the 1830’s. They’d had a Quartermaster Corps museum in Philadelphia whose collection was given to the Smithsonian, a tremendous uniform collection. I was trying to build something for the Armed Forces Hall that would represent the Navy in it’s technological home. The ship models were vital to fill the gaps, so to speak, reflecting the Navy’s role in war and peace. 

WINKLER: You were involved in Philadelphia. Could you talk a little bit about…

LUNDEBERG: Yes, this goes back again to Howard Chapelle, who had, during the Depression, participated in an NRA program that Frank Taylor (then Curator of Engineering) administered out of the old Arts and Industries Building, something called the Historic American Merchant Marine Survey. That federal program engaged unemployed naval architects to survey surviving old ships throughout the country before they disappeared. Chapelle was in charge of the New England area. In the process of that duty he came across the Continental gunboat Philadelphia, which had been discovered on Lake Champlain and raised in 1935 by a New York salvage engineer, Lorenzo Hagglund. Chapelle alerted Frank Taylor to its historical significance. Ultimately when we opened the new museum, Frank Taylor was able to include the Philadelphia as a prime national treasure. Colonel Hagglund, who had raised it, had been unable to place it anywhere in New England or New York. Nobody could deal with it. So he finally willed it to the Smithsonian.

I went up to Champlain with Chapelle in 1961 and we got a Chesapeake Bay boat builder from the Eastern Shore, James Richardson, who crated the Philadelphia for shipment. What we did was to preserve it with polyethylene glycol to make it very limber. It had dried out from 1935 to ’61 so if we’d moved it dry it would have just fallen apart. But it was very limber, Richardson put it in a crate with long runners, towed it with a Caterpillar tractor to the shores of Lake Champlain, ramped it onto a barge, that took it down to Albany, put it on a Coast Guard buoy tender which brought it to the Washington Navy Yard. From there they brought it over by flatbed trailer to our new unfinished Museum, lifted it up with cranes to our third floor and put it into the Armed Forces Hall. Taylor wanted to keep that a secret if he could, but he said, “Phil, do a press release in case people want to know what this is.” So we had the press release all ready to go. The Philadelphia comes down Constitution Avenue in this crate, they lift it up into the building, and we had not a peep from the press. So Frank Taylor had his surprise when the Museum opened. 

The Philadelphia is the only surviving man of war of the American Revolution, on either side, that exists on exhibit. There’s one that’s been discovered recently in Lake Champlain, a sister ship of the Philadelphia which they probably can’t afford to raise, preserve and house her in a museum. The Philadelphia is an American Viking ship. She dried out, for a quarter century before being treated for preservation. She continues to dry out. The openings between her side planking continue to open. It’s a minor nightmare for the conservators now. But the main problem is to keep people from throwing cigarette butts in there. We did not know for sure what the identity of the ship was because, while Benedict Arnold’s action reports identified her as the Philadelphia, British action reports on Valcour Island said, the Boston. 

About three years after we got the vessel into the new Museum building I had a call from the National Archives. They were editing a multi-volume documentary history of the Continental Congress during the Revolution. They’d gotten a letter from Fort Concho, a frontier fort museum at San Angelo out in the western plains of Texas.  The museum reported that it didn’t have anything relating to the Continental Congress, but they had a document, the payroll of one Captain Benjamin Rue, skipper of the gunboat Philadelphia. To say that I went through the overhead was to put it mildly. Senator John Tower and the trustees of that museum subsequently presented it to our National Museum. Thus opened up the whole human dimension of the sole surviving warship of the American Revolution, strictly speaking, an Army vessel. That got me into preparing a visitor’s guidebook on the Philadelphia. I’ll give you a copy of the second edition. The whole story of the crew emerged. We found out that two-thirds of the men were from New Hampshire. We found out that 17 of her 44 men were actually captured by the British and paroled. All sorts of insights emerge from this analysis. This ends up being a remarkable example of what I term microhistory, one variety of which is found in the experience of survivors of terminal events, like the sinking of the Maine, the Hindenburg disaster, the World Trade Towers disaster, the Columbine High School tragedy. A study of each of these serves some particular purpose. It’s not the only variety of microhistory, but it has definite utility for naval and military history, the same as the experience of our crew of the USS Frederick C. Davis (DE 136) in World War II.

WINKLER: Well that is an excellent place to conclude. Thank you Dr. Lundeberg. 

26 February 2003

WINKLER: Okay, today is February the 26th, 2003.


This is Dave Winkler from the Naval Historical Foundation with Dr. Phil Lundeberg, continuing an interview that we started last June when it was sunny and bright out and now it’s cold and snowy.

What we want to do is tie up some loose ends. First of all what I want to do is, again, thank you for having me here at your home and kind of pick up where we left off; and where we left off last time is we talked about the Philadelphia exhibit.  Then what we want to do, I guess, is take a look at another major exhibit, which was the Wilkes’ Exhibit, dedicated to the Wilkes Expedition.

LUNDEBERG: The exhibit that we did in the 1980s on the United States Exploring Expedition of 1838 to ’42; (the Wilkes Expedition) was in many ways the most satisfying exhibit experience that I had at the Smithsonian, not withstanding the extensive work that we did in the early Sixties in setting up our Armed Forces Hall.  The Wilkes Exhibit was an exceptionally fruitful collaborative exhibit, involving experts not only within the Smithsonian, but also within the government.  We had people not only from the National Archives and the Smithsonian Natural History Museum, which was the basic locale, but also our own American History Museum.  The Navy Department enhanced the group and the National Oceanographic and Atmospheric Administration as well.  The remarkable thing about the exhibit was that it ran for a full year in the Natural History Museum under the title “Magnificent Voyagers”, and then it toured the country, being featured at a number of major museums thereafter for about a year and a half, including at Los Angeles, Tacoma (Washington), Milwaukee, New York and ending up at the Peabody Museum of Salem in Massachusetts.  

I had the assignment of dealing with Wilkes and his ships, from the point of their construction and their experience at sea, as well as the whole logistics side of the expedition.  It was very remarkable to be able to work amicably on an exhibit in a large committee collaboration, and not only finish the exhibit on time, which was very well received, but to get the exhibit book out at the same time, which is always a challenge.  

In developing the naval side of it, I was working primarily with scientists from the Natural History Museum in various fields; ethnology, various natural sciences, all under Dr. Herman Viola, who is one of their anthropologists.  Viola’s team worked well together, fully aware that the Wilkes Expedition , through its multi-volume scientific reports, first brought the United States into the world’s scientific community.


After the conclusion of the exhibit at the Smithsonian it went on the road and a number of us gave lectures at various venues; Tacoma, Salem and so forth, so that we had an opportunity to reach audiences in each community.  And that, I think, that all added up to probably the most widely traveled naval exhibit that the country’s ever had.  I was happy to be a part of that.

In doing the technical studies of Wilkes’ ships I had tremendous support from the Naval Seas Systems Command and its model curator, Dana Wagner, and his staff.  They did several detailed ship models for the program, based on careful historical research.  

We built most of Wilkes’ ships, including two little New York pilot boats that served as both tenders and launches to get into very shallow water for hydrographic surveys.  We were able to work in a very creative way with Wegner and his crew.  That was the fruition, I suppose, of our earlier mutual association at the Smithsonian going way back with Howard Chapelle; the renown dean of historians of the American sailing ship era.  To be able to build models retrospectively and authentically, based not only on the actual hull lines plans of the vessels but rigging plans as well in some cases, was a real test.  But it strengthened a remarkable dimension in the program of Wegner’s model shop.  That model shop at Carderock, as never previous to his tenure, has been building accurate sealed models, retrospectively, of a member of our great historic naval vessels.  So that was a very productive and satisfying experience.

Joye Leonhart from the Naval Historical Center made a big contribution in the interpretation of Charles Wilkes’ leadership, which was of course always one of the areas of potential controversy.  Admiral Kane was very nervous about how Wilkes was going to be interpreted.  He had had correspondence, which I have here that you can take along, from a Senator on behalf of a Wilkes descendant who was concerned that Wilkes was being depicted as a very harsh commander of the squadron and so forth.  I was aware of that while doing my chapter on Wilkes’ ships and squadron logistics.  I made a special effort to pinpoint the challenges that Wilkes faced in trying to protect his crews and at the same time achieve his objectives, particularly, of finding out whether the Antarctic was actually a continent.  So you see, it was both an interesting and challenging exhibition.  It developed a part of our Navy’s  history, again, that we’ve always found to be extremely popular; namely the history of American naval exploration and the advancement of science in time of peace.

To look ahead as to what is now going on in the Smithsonian, they are projecting, with a major new grant, a new Armed Forces exhibit entitled “The Price of Freedom.”  It appears to be focused primarily on warfare and what American servicemen have sacrificed for liberty.  I’m now concerned that the peacetime role of our Armed Forces maybe overlooked. Naval and military exploration has always had great appeal, as reflected again in the current West Point exhibit in our museum. I have had no contacts from anybody about the new Armed Forces exhibit.  I understand that Ron Spector is on the committee that has been advising on that exhibit.  My Latest information is that an outside contract project manager has resigned and that a Smithsonian curator, Dr. David Allison (former historian at the Naval Research Laboratory) is now in charge.
WINKLER:  I have a question.  As I was rummaging through our storage spaces a few years ago I came across the Alfred T. Agate drawings.  We’ve donated them since to the Navy art collection.  Could you talk about that?

LUNDEBERG:  The Wilkes’ exhibit benefited greatly from the Foundation’s loan several of Agate’s drawings.  Thus, I was very happy that the Foundation asked me to take a look at, and write a brief article for Pull Together on Agate. The actual role of the expedition’s  artists and draftsmen was one thing largely overlooked in the preparation of the exhibit Magnificent Voyagers.  This enabled me to focus on an individual who was the most productive of all the artists attached to the exhibition.  Agate was a very talented and appealing young man, who unfortunately died at an early age, shortly after the publication of the Wilkes volumes.  It provided an interesting opportunity to evaluate Agate’s experience in documenting the squadron at Sidney.  It proved very valuable also to the Australians recently when they were doing a gallery on Australian-American maritime relations for their new National Maritime Museum in Sidney.  So that again was a happy collaboration with the Foundation.  Thus, with the Wilkes Exhibit, we have Dana Wagner’s group; your Foundation, and the Naval Historical Center Staff, all involved with the Smithsonian in what I think was a superb exhibit.

WINKLER: Now was that one of your last exhibit efforts at the Smithsonian?
LUNDEBERG: Yes.  I was actually in retirement for about a year when I was working on it and lecturing across the country. One of the publications associated with that also was our joint article with Dana Wegner in The American Neptune that more or less summarized the work that Dana and I had done on models of Wilkes’ ships.

WINKLER: The article, “Not for Conquest, but Discovery,” dealt with the rediscovery of the ships of the Wilkes’ Expedition.  It appeared in American Neptune; summer of 1989.  And of course the Agate article you were citing was a Pull Together article from the summer of 1989; “Legacy of an Artist Explorer.”
LUNDEBERG: So that, all and all, I’ll let you take this exhibit flier along as a sample of the blurb that they had for “Magnificent Voyages.”  

At the Smithsonian I had a lot of different duties.  One of them that certainly was never written in my job description was that of working with relevant historical organizations.  Not only the Naval Historical Foundation, but also the American Military Institute, which became the Society for Military History, and also the U.S. Commission on Military History, a private association of historians interested in research abroad.  

And in the connection with the latter, we had an interesting collaboration, primarily with the Office of the Chief of Military History, in hosting two international conferences of the International Commission of Military History (ICMH), the first of them in 1975, which was focused on military technology.  In 1982, in connection with the 250th anniversary of George Washington’s birth, the National Museum had a major exhibit on General Washington entitled “A Figure upon the Stage.”  We wanted to tie that in internationally, if we could, and my idea was that we would have a colloquy on the theme “Soldier Statesmen of the Age of the Enlightenment.”  That hit very well with the French in particular.  I have a brochure of that.  General James L. Collins of OCMH was very supportive on all of this, as he’s always been.  We had an outstanding international group of historians.  Theodore Ropp from Duke, for instance, gave the lead paper “Voltaire’s Virtu: The Enlightenment’s Soldier Statesman.”  If you would like to take that program along and look at that.  One interesting thing. When we were proposing this program at a previous ICMH meeting, the Chairman of the Soviet Commission, General Pavel Zhilin, objected to this.  He though it was too elitist.  He wanted us to host a conference on the role of the masses in warfare.  Our proposed theme was very appealing to a lot of people from a lot of different places.  The Russians didn’t come.

WINKLER: Oh!

LUNDEBERG: I was involved probably far more than I should have been in these international organizations.  But my experience in the Smithsonian was that the professional academic community in this country looked to the Smithsonian.  It looked to the Smithsonian particularly in the areas of the history of science and technology, historically the strong suit of our Museum.  And it turned out that it also looked to the Smithsonian in the area of Armed Forces History as well.  

WINKLER: Do you see that, as far as Armed  Forces History, the Smithsonian’s reputation kind of abating in the past recently?

LUNDEBERG: Well I think you have to look at it in terms, on one hand, of the tremendous artifactual collections that the Smithsonian acquired overtime in military and naval history; far greater in military history, particularly when you talk about arms and uniforms.  I covered this in a long chapter on “Military Museums” in John Jessup’s  Encyclopedia of the American Military (Volume III).  On the other hand, you have the strong anti-military thrust in academia in roughly the last half century.  The interesting thing to me is that the National Museum’s Armed Forces Hall, which has just be taken down, lasted for 40 years in virtually the same format. As I noted earlier, the first Director of our museum, Frank Taylor, who’s celebrating his 100th birthday next month, said two things about a museum’s exhibits.  First, the exhibits ideally should be revised every ten years.  Secondly, that in 30 or 40 years the exhibits of some of the departments in that museum were going to have to be moved out because you have new disciplines coming in.  That museum started out heavily oriented to the history of technology, being modeled in some respects on the Deutsches Museum at Munich.  And they’ve been grappling with that ever since.  Yet our Armed Forces Hall, right from the beginning, had a  social history dimension, particularly because, of course,  of the uniforms and, personal memorabilia of all ranks.  So we had that going for us.  And my own sense of my career in Naval History is that I taught more people, especially young people, something about Naval History than I would ever have if I stayed at the Naval Academy all of my career.  So that’s the satisfaction.


When I was at the Naval Academy I had an opportunity to work with the Naval History Committee.  Professor E.B. “Ned” Potter was the head of it at that time and I may or may not have discussed this earlier.  The Committee was then involved in the revision of the Sea Power text.  The first edition of that text had been entitled The United States and World Sea Power-this is the mid 50s.  Not simply the history of the United States Navy like Commodore Knox’s book but the experience of history’s great sea powers, including Great Britain in particular.  That approach was strongly criticized by the Director of Naval History, Rear Admiral John B. Heffernan.  He felt that the Naval Academy should be using Commodore Knox’s book History of the United States Navy.  I had been a teaching assistant to Professor Morison when he was teaching his course in Naval History at Harvard and he used Knox as the text.  I was very familiar with it.  I later used Knox as a key source when I was doing the naval exhibits for the National Museum’s new Armed Forces Hall.  The interesting thing on that textbook controversy at Annapolis was that it very quickly ended when “Ned” Potter brought in Fleet Admiral Chester W. Nimitz as his co-editor for the Sea Power edition.  Nimitz’s role, of course, was to get a more measured view of naval operations than academics would have.  Actually, most of the men on our Naval History Committee had served in the Navy in World War II.  But at any rate, I had that background with Morison and with Potter’s Naval History Committee when I came to the Smithsonian and I relied on Commodore Knox’s perspective on our own Naval History.

WINKLER: One of the things you did at the Smithsonian is you set up a……..well you talked about it in your earlier interviews.  During the Fifties you had Morison/Gabe lecture at the Smithsonian?

LUNDEBERG: Morison actually gave his lectures in the Forties and Fifties at the Department of the Interior auditorium, right across the street from Old Main Navy on Constitution Avenue.

And I was simply there helping out as an usher, along with a few others of our staff in those days.

WINKLER: And you heard rebuttals to some of those lectures, which is kind of interesting.  And those were, you said sponsored by the Naval Historical Foundation.

LUNDEBERG: I can remember that the President of the Foundation at that time was Vice Admiral John Shafroth. “Big Jack” Shafroth.  He was a wonderful, burly guy.  He had been Inspector General of the Navy in World War II.  On one occasion he introduced a Marine general who was to give a lecture on some Pacific operation.  Shafroth was very interested in this and went into the subject for about ten minutes himself in his introduction.  He finally turned to the general, waved him up to the rostrum, and said with a chuckle, “Do the best you can.”  (Laughter) But the Halsey lecture-there was an interesting one.  A rebuttal to Morison’s earlier critiques on the Battle of Leyte Gulf.  

WINKLER: Well of course Halsey was criticized for leaving the scene of the main action, and I imagine Halsey explained he acted on, I guess, the best intelligence he had.

LUNDEBERG: I don’t even recall the details.  But the one thing I know is that the research for Halsey’s paper was done by Richard Pattee, one of Morison’s assistants. Dick Pattee did much of research for Morison on our submarine operations in the Pacific in World War II.


That original lecture series concluded in the Fifties with the Morison Project.  I had decided, once I got to the Smithsonian, that maybe we collaborate on a new Foundation lecture series relating also to World War II.  So we had at least four lectures in the Carmichael Auditorium of the National Museum of American History.  I believe we started out with Captain Stephen Roskill, the historian of the Royal Navy’s operations in World War II, dealing with the Battle of the Atlantic.  Then we had Admiral Friedrich Ruge, the Inspector (CNO), of the post-war German Navy and author of a well received history of the war, Der Seekrieg, which I had reviewed for the Naval Institute before coming to the Smithsonian.  Ruge had been the German Navy’s mine warfare specialist and had served as Naval Aide to Rommel prior to the 1944 Normandy invasion.  Then we had Minoru Genda, the Japanese carrier tactician at Pearl Harbor and Midway.  His lecture proved by far the best attended. As a matter of fact people were just so insistent on getting in to Genda’s lecture that they practically knocked the Smithsonian guards aside in their anxiousness.


Genda gave a very good lecture.  And, like Roskill and Ruge, he went on to other venues in the academic community to give his lecture.  Very often they would go down to Duke for the Duke/Carolina Military History Consortium.  Genda went down to Durham and later to the Naval Academy and Naval War College.  After he had given his lecture there, a member of the audience asked him whether, if Japan had acquired the atomic bomb, it would have used it against the Americans.  He said, of course.  That professional judgment outraged the Japanese socialists…..

WINKLER: Oh boy!
LUNDEBERG:……..and he was called home after that remark..  But he had given a straight military answer. The other lecture in the series, I believe, the last one before I went on sabbatical leave, was by Admiral John B. Heffernan, former Director of Naval History, who lectured on the Union blockade in the Civil War.  He talked about the nature of a blockade, emphasizing the criteria for an effective blockade, and the diplomatic consequences as that blockade developed.  


I regret that the series ended.  I went on sabbatical leave in London and somehow we never got it going again.  But I think now you have an even better locale for your lectures at the Navy Memorial.

WINKLER: Right.  And that was the Naval Historical Foundation who worked with you on that?

LUNDEBERG: Yes.

WINKLER: Could you talk about your relationship with Decatur House?

LUNDEBERG: I followed up on an exhibit collaboration started by my Smithsonian boss, Mendel L. Peterson, who was Chairman of our Department of Armed Forces History.  He curated one of the Foundation’s early exhibits up there.  Sometime in the early Sixties I was asked to do an exhibit at Decatur House.  I suggested to the Foundation that we do one on the history of U.S. naval exploration.  So we picked up on Wilkes, Ringgold, Perry and many others, and that was so popular that they ran the exhibit for, I think, at least two years.  This came just at a time when the anti-military sentiment was very strong. So it proved a good choice.  It taught me something about future exhibits at the Smithsonian.  


Captain Roger Pineau who had earlier worked on the Morison history, later served at the Smithsonian Press.  Morison had just finished Old Bruin, his biography of Commander Matthew C. Perry.  Pineau at that time did an edition of Perry’s papers as a spin-off to Old Bruin.  Roger then decided to do a Smithsonian exhibit entitled “The Japan Expedition of Commodore Matthew C. Perry.”  That was mounted in the Natural History Museum and proved a predecessor really to the Wilkes’ exhibit.  This “Black Ships” exhibit was very successful, rich in artifacts, some on loan from Japan.  The later Wilkes Exhibit was particularly appropriate institutionally because the earliest collections that the Smithsonian acquired in many natural science disciplines had been brought back by the Wilkes Expedition.  They had originally been placed in the Patent Office building but that didn’t work out.  So fairly early in the history of the Smithsonian, the Congress asked Secretary Joseph Henry, will you take them?  He was, as a scientist, reluctant but he said, okay, if Congress will pay for exhibiting them.  So that’s how the Smithsonian literally became an institution with a major exhibition function, as well as a scientific research institution.  

But mentioning these speakers, Stephen Roskill, I knew of course.  I had learned of his work while working for Morison.  He and Morison were running parallel in their naval history series.  I realized some years later that Roskill had been given access to British ULTRA or Special Intelligence.  He couldn’t acknowledge it in his narrative, but it was obvious at several points.  Morison was never read into ULTRA.  Roger Pineau later told me.  When I was working in Morison’s office in the early Fifties I had only one caution and that not from Morison or Pineau, but from Dick Pattee, then working on Pacific submarine Operations.  He said, “Phil, we can’t get into Communications Intelligence.”  Well, that no problem for me because I had the German naval archival side of it anyway.  I was building the narrative of Atlantic A/SW operations and campaigns.  There were no problems in identifying the U-boats that our naval forces encountered.

WINKLER: That’s right.  Because, yeah, you didn’t have a problem because you had the German (Tambach Archive) records.

LUNDEBERG: And, in the process of following up my Harvard dissertation I had the opportunity to interview Grossadmiral Karl Doenitz, once at Abano in Italy and then at his retirement home at Aumuhle, near Hamburg.  I found him quite an interesting spirited old gentlemen.  I personally regard him as the German Navy’s equivalent of Erwin Rommel as an inspirational leader; a man who managed to keep his cadre of fighting men going under the most desperate circumstances.

WINKLER: This is Side 2 here on the 26th of February.


Dave Winkler again with Dr. Phil Lundeberg.


Okay so picking up here.  You mentioned, of course, Doenitz as a tremendous leader, and continuing along.  

LUDENBERG: Morison, in his first volume on the Atlantic had a decidedly negative view of Doenitz.  I think it was simply a lack of insight on the German side at that time.  Morison later interviewed Doenitz.  You may remember that Time Magazine had a cover, probably in ’42, with Doenitz’s head surrounded by a sea of serpent heads (U-boats periscopes).  That was a natural visceral reaction to our East Coast shipping losses in early 1942.  I can remember, when I came back in 1955 for a final look at the text for Volume 10 of the Operational History that Morison had a concluding paragraph in which he commented, “In contrast to the Imperial German Navy, Hitler’s Navy expired with a whine and a whimper.”  I took exception to that, as I rarely did with Morison.  I showed it to Dick Pattee and he immediately agreed with me.  I made the point to Morison: the German Navy mutinied at the end of World War I.  Deonitz’s men didn’t mutiny.  The U-boat service was, in effect, the only German armed service that was still functioning offensively at the end of the war.  That passage went out.  Morison accepted the criticism in good grace and did not include the comment, not because of who I was, but the logic of the view.

WINKLER: One of the areas I want to kind of talk about today is some of these historian’s-Morison one-and just get your views on their personalities and backgrounds.  Let’s continue with Morison.  What was it like working with him?

LUNDEBERG: When I started out at Harvard as his assistant in his Naval History course, he was a striking model as far as teaching was concerned.  I found it very agreeable working with him personally.  He invited me to his home on Brimmer Street for luncheon and took me on a coastal cruise out of Marblehead in his small yacht.  He had high critical standards and was an inspired, trenchant lecturer.  He didn’t like to have girls from Radcliffe in the Naval History course.  He required neckties and jackets for the men. In working with him at the Navy Department he gave me very good advice, early on.  I can remember working on the battle involving Convoy ONS-5 which was very complex.  I may have mentioned this earlier.  It was the spring of 1943; May of ’43, a convoy, that had the job getting through a growing concentration of 50 U-boats.  Well, in order to do that I read all those U-boats war diaries.  He saw that it had me going and he said, “Phil, you’ll never finish if you do not start writing early.  Do not follow the graduate student’s technique of taking endless, notes, and notes, building piles of notes.  You’ve got to find your best resources, develop your narrative from them, and then draw the others in as needed for the developing text.  That’s how I managed to finish the dissertation, in some two and a half years!

WINKLER:  Okay.  That’s my technique.  I feel validated.

LUNDEBERG: But the other thing that I derived from Morison, one of the things he advised was, don’t get the idea that a historian has only teaching as a professional career.  He ticked off a number of different areas, starting with teaching of course: working in historical societies, working in museums as curators, working in governmental historical offices, working in the publishing business, even freelancing as historian. That’s something that very few history seminarians conveyed to their students in the Fifties.  I tried to get that across some years ago to the graduate placement people in history at Harvard and they were dense to it.

WINKLER: When I went to American University they said, “We’re going to train you to be history professors, and this is ten years ago.”

LUNDEBERG: Yeah, sure.  Morison had a broader view.  I understand there was one other Ph.D., Albert Harkness, Sr., in the Morison program.  Al did a doctoral dissertation at Brown based on his research for Morison on the Navy’s early operations in the Philippines and the East Indies.  His name is found in the preface to The Rising Sun of the Pacific.  But at Annapolis I worked with Professor E.B. Potter’s group at the Naval Academy.  Ned, of course, had wartime experience on the Nimitz staff at Pearl Harbor, so he was well prepared to deal with the Pacific theater and that’s how he got Nimitz to serve as co-edition of Sea Power, I’m sure.


At the Smithsonian I headed Naval History, one of two divisions in our Department of Armed Forces History.  I had a veteran colleague; Edgar “Dixie” Howell, on the Military History side, and what we were doing early in planning the new museum was to develop an exhibit that would reflect the role of each of our Armed Services during various chronological eras, in peacetime as well as in war.  Our job was to decide and “negotiate” how much coverage the Army, the Navy or the Marine Corps merited in a particular era.  It worked out remarkably well.  The one regret that we had was – and it didn’t affect the hall as it was completed through the Civil War – that the Air Force didn’t want to do their part.  The National Air Museum has their objective.  But at the Smithsonian I worked, in particular, on the development of the history of naval architecture as far as the Navy is concerned.  Working with Howard Chapelle (Curator of Transportation), of course, was a tremendous asset, as our naval collections were relatively small.  We did not have uniform collections or weapons collections that were a tenth of those that the Army had given for our Military History holdings.  The Quartermaster Corps had been setting aside patterns of Army uniforms from the 1830s, uniforms of all branches.  Military History Division had inherited that collection.  They had also had a huge collection of uniforms of all the Allied services in World War I.  There had been a uniform exchange at the end of the War, and of course many German uniforms as well.  When I got to the Smithsonian in 1959 we had uniforms of a few naval officers’; Farragut, Foote, Schley, but virtually no enlisted uniforms.  Belatedly, we tried to get into naval enlisted uniforms.  In that vacuum, ship models were a vital part – they represented the seaman’s home, habitat, in successive eras.

WINKLER: Okay, can you talk about some of the other folks? Of course you talked about Chapelle extensively in our last talk.

LUNDEBERG: We had a number of interns that worked in Naval History at the Smithsonian, notably Clark Reynolds.  Professor Ted Ropp sent him from Duke, to get an additional museum dimension, and he began his work on Pacific aircraft carriers operations.  Reynolds did his dissertation on Admiral “Jocko” Clark in the Pacific, published as The Fast Carriers, while based in our Naval History Division.  Ropp also sent up Alex Roland who was on his dissertation on Underwater Warfare in the Age of Sail for which we had resources, including my monograph on Samuel Colt’s Submarine battery.  


Also from Duke was Monte Wright, who used our P.V.H. Weems Collection of Aerial navigation instruments in developing his dissertation on the Army Air Corps Pathfinder system during World War II.


Predoctoral fellows from Pomona were John Niven, who was developing his biography of Martin Van Buren; and Kenneth Hagan, starting his study of post-Civil War naval thought in the era of gunboat diplomacy, who subsequently taught at the Naval Academy and served as director of the Academy museum.  


David Rosenberg was with us for a summer and learned from our superb ship model technician, Howard Hoffman, how to take the lines off of a ship half model and thereby got a feel for the naval architectural dimension of naval history.


John Sands, later at Colonial Williamsburg, was an intern here while doing his dissertation at American University, an archeological study of the British naval wrecks off Yorktown.  Sands again, got valuable exposure, with Hoffman, to naval architecture.

Dana Wegner, now curator of models at NAVSEA, came to us.  He learned the Hoffman method of taking lines off half models and from there went to the Rickover research program and contributed to the study on the loss of the battleship Maine.  Wagner later went to the exhibit's office at the National Archives, and then finally was appointed curator at NAVSEA.  He is proven by far the best they’ve ever had.  And Wegner in now writing, as I understand it, a biography of David W. Taylor.  


I had some interesting colleagues there. Dr. Harold D. Langley; my colleague, most recently, in Naval History, is a noted diplomatic historian and a specialist on naval social history.  Langley specialized on the history of naval medicine, but also is an authority on our national flag, having edited Admiral Julius Furer’s study on the national flag. .


Earlier, Dr. Melvin Jackson, also served as associate curator in our Naval History Division. Mel had been one of Bob Albion’s doctoral students at Harvard and had served as a World War II Coast Guard skipper. He did a massive, very valuable edition of the plans of the Historic American Merchant Marine Survey which had been done under the NRA during the Depression era.  The HAMMS had survey led among other things, to discovery of the Gunboat Philadelphia.  Mel Jackson was later appointed marine curator in our Transportation Division and thus became Chapelle’s successor.  Paul Johnston is now the curator in Transportation.

WINKLER: Now you probably worked very closely with the Naval Historical Center, or Naval History Division before, so was it ’72,’74?

LUNDEBERG: Well I go back to John B. Heffernan’s era in the early Fifties.  

WINKLER: Yeah, his tour.  So who are some of the interesting characters that you’ve worked with over the years at the Naval Historical Center?

LUNDEBERG: Well, Lieutenant William J. Morgan was on duty there in one of the offices.  I’ve known him over the years and admired his editorial work on the Naval Documents of the American Revolution.  His editorial work included the autobiography of Charles Wilkes, which came out shortly before we opened our Wilkes exhibit, “Magnificent Voyagers.”
I enjoyed working with Admiral Heffernan.  He was a fine gentleman of the old school and had taught Naval History at Annapolis himself as a young officer.  So he was very encouraging and of course, was interested in giving a lecture in the later Foundation series.

I was beginning my second year of teaching at the Naval Academy in 1956 when Admiral Eller took over, at Old Main Navy, as Director of Naval History, where he served during my early years at the Smithsonian.  Both Judge Eller and the Foundation were very supportive as we developed naval exhibits for the National Museum’s Hall of Armed Forces History.  Admiral Eller counseled me privately against being associated with Howard Chapelle’s views on the Constellation controversy.  I urged in reply that O.N.I. should be asked to investigate tampering with plans of the frigate at the National Archives.  Dana Wegner’s research at NAVSEA and the Archives has confirmed that advice.  Eller served as the key naval member of a committee of military historians (Ted Ropp and Fred Todd were the two other members I recall) that provided a professional review of our initial armed forces exhibit (down to 1865).  He recommended that we give special attention in our Revolutionary War area to the Battle of the Capes of the Chesapeake  (1781), which sealed the fate of Cornwallis at Yorktown.  As we had no American naval artifacts or ship models related to that rare French naval success, I persuaded our exhibits office to fabricate a table-top diorama with flashing lights to depict the movements of the squadrons of Graves and de Grasse off Cape Henry.  The first such automated exhibit in our Armed Forces Hall, it required careful maintenance but had a relatively long and useful life for such a construct, proving particularly intriguing for our youthful visitors.
I had done a paper for Morison on the Chesapeake expeditions of D’Estaing and de Grasse while a graduate student at Harvard and later revisited the subject in 1981 when I asked, very belatedly, to undertake a special exhibits in the Smithsonian castle celebrating the French contribution to American independence.  I entitled the exhibition, which was generously assisted by the French Embassy, “By Sea and Land, 1781: Victory with the Help of France.”  I was dictating script for our exhibit staff virtually to the opening night, but it was well received, both by our Smithsonian administration and the French.  Premier Mitterand’s historical advisor, Professor Claude Manceron, a specialist on the era of the French and American Revolutions, visited later and expressed considerable satisfaction, perhaps because I had placed emphasis on the art of war as perfected by the French in that era – a model in particular for our early Federal Army.


Eller helped us secure a selection of current enlisted uniforms from the Navy to strengthen our very minimal holdings.  I understood he concurrently got the Navy Museum to do the same.  The Army’s uniform collection goes back to the 1830s.


I knew Admiral Kane.  I worked with him on various things.  Admiral Hooper was not inclined to get involved in the early efforts of the U.S. Commission on Military History (see his 1793 letter to Colonel John Jessup of OCMH), owing to uncertainty regarding its non-governmental character and its international associations – including Soviet and Eastern Bloc military historians.  General Collins at OCMH was a strong supporter of the USCMH from its founding days in Stockholm and was at ease in the international arena. 

Dean Allard was very supportive in what we had been trying to do in Naval History and Bill Dudley too.  Allard and Dudley have both been very active in professional historical organization.  Allard in the U.S. Commission on Military History and Dudley in the North America Society of Oceanic History.

WINKLER: Correct.
LUNDEBERG: And I think it validates what I was trying to do at the Smithsonian, maintain an effective connection between the museum and the government historical offices and the academic community, and that’s what we’re trying to do.  I was one of the three founders of the North American Society for Oceanic History (NASOH), up at the University of Maine some 25 years ago.  Clark Reynolds was the key organizer.  John Lyman of the University of North Carolina was the third NASOH founder.  NASOH has brought together a rich range of people interested in maritime history, whether in universities, government offices or museums and indeed in the maritime industry itself.  We never managed to get any people from maritime unions in, but people who were interested in supporting maritime museums often were interested in joining NASOH.  So its meetings were a nice mix of people with different insights and that’s what made that organization, although small, very interesting.

WINKLER: How’s that kind of transverse?  They have the National Maritime Historical Society, which is, I guess based up in New York, New York.

LUNDEBERG: Yeah, I know the man…

WINKLER: Peter Stanford.

LUNDEBERG: Peter Stanford, yeah.  I know him.  They have a good magazine.


I have been overextended, as you can see, as far as professional organizations.

(Laughter)


I can remember early at the Smithsonian I got involved with an international bibliography of the history of The Great Sea Routes.  Professor Frederic Lane at John Hopkins came down to the Smithsonian early in the Sixties and wanted to know if there was somebody here that would undertake to edit the American portion this international scholarly project, a bibliography of works published 1932-62 related to the history of the Great Sea Routes.  So, I signed onto that.  It was a project of the International Commission of Maritime History, an UNESCO affiliate based in Paris.  That project enabled me to see one thing in the process, the proliferation of specialized historical associations that had occurred from roughly the early Thirties, from just the monolithic American Historical Association and the Mississippi Valley Historical Association, which in more recent years have, largely been co-opted by the social historians.  Examples of that trend were the emergence of the American Military Institute (now The Society of Military History), and more recently the North American Society of Oceanic History.  There was nothing in this country comparable to the tandem in England between the Mariner’s Mirror and the Society for Nautical Research.  We have had the American Neptune, which is a fine journal, pioneered by Morison, Whitehill and others.  But we did not have an historical association in the maritime area, and so that was the thing that sold NASOH I think.  I have a copy of my talk at the organizing meeting at Orono.  I can give that to you if I can find it. 

WINKLER: Well I think we’ve covered a lot of turf here.
LUNDEBERG: I have one or two others.


I have a little folder on the Yorktown exhibit that we did in 1981 at the Smithsonian Castle.  That exhibit was put in a minimum of time because the Carter Administration was not interesting in having a big exhibit on it in Washington.  They said it could all be done down at Yorktown.

WINKLER: We did cover that in our last interview, so that’s good.
LUNDEBERG: Yeah.  One of the odd things that I was asked to do in the mid Seventies was to advise the DoD on something that the Nixon Administration was trying to do for economic readjustment in areas that were losing their military bases.  This had to do with the dis-establishment of the naval operating base in Narragansett Bay.  So I was sent up there.  They seemed to want to get me to recommend a maritime museum for the Narragansett Bay area.  I pointed out to them that you had very nearby the Whaling Museum at New Bedford and you had Mystic Seaport at Mystic.

WINKLER: That’s right, and then you go to Peabody.
LUNDEBERG: Yeah. I said, “Lets do a National Museum of American Coastal Fortification at Fort Adams at Newport.”  That was my recommendation.  I don’t think they ever quite achieved that but I was trying (having been involved with the Council of American Maritime Museums).  I was trying to avoid…

WINKLER: Another one?

LUNDEBERG: …another one, right.  And I think they accepted that.  So, that was strategic advice, and I’m not sure that it’s all here, but I can probably find you one.


Over the years here was another thing that I did.  The journal Military Affairs, when Robin Higham was the editor, had various topical sections.  I did a section on what I called “The Museum Prospective.”  This led eventually on my chapters on museums in the Higham bibliographic Guide to the Sources of U.S: Military History.  Again, an effort to reach academic historians along the line that they should consider the total resources of museums.  Not simply for useful photographs of objects, but for the documentary material that they have behind the artifact collections.  Plus the curatorial expertise in interpreting those resources.

WINKLER: Yeah, and I think that’s a problem that continues today. Historians are looking at museums as collections of stuff and not as research repositories.
LUNDEBERG: Sure. My basic message is this: the common link between the academic historian and the historian in the museum is their utter reliance on documentation.  The example of the Continental Gunboat Philadelphia is classic.  If we hadn’t acquired Captain Rue’s payroll of that vessel you would never be able to identify that vessel positively.  And a museum that has a great artifact that cannot be precisely identified, that is an embarrassment, to say the least.

WINKLER: But the other thing is museums sometimes don’t exploit that, I think, that academic…or they come across almost as, okay, we have to put on a good show.  They’re more focused on out reach to the general public.
LUNDEBERG: Oh yes.  Well, it’s the fact that barely a tenth of the collections at the Smithsonian are on display.  Many of them will never be on display.  That was one of the great things about the Wilkes Exhibit.  It got artifacts on display that had never been on display since arriving in our scientific collections nearly 150 years ago and yet were absolutely stunning when seen in the relevant context.

WINKLER: That’s something which one of the things that’s kind of interesting is when you do a behind the scenes tour and you see all the stuff that’s not on display.
LUNDEBERG: Oh yeah, sure.

WINKLER: I find that fun rummaging through the storerooms at the Naval Historical Center.

LUNDEBERG: Yeah, oh yeah.

WINKLER: So in many ways that’s more fun than going through the museum itself.
LUNDEBERG: Well I think I’ve mentioned my involved in the Smithsonian and museum security.  


Talking about Dean Allard.  One of the things that he encouraged me to do was to go to an International Conference that the British put on at Liverpool on in 1993; their celebration of the 50th anniversary of the Battle of the Atlantic. I may have mentioned this before.  They wanted someone to talk about Allied cooperation, and I think Dean had initially approached Norman Polmar.  Norm didn’t want to go.  So Dean called me.  It involved putting together a documented paper of 20 pages for a delivery in just 20 minutes on Allied cooperation.  This is a no-brainer if there was one.  My problem was that I was determined that I was going to talk about more than just the British/American/Canadian triad, you see.  I was going to look out for the Poles.  I was going to look for the Norwegians.  Say something about them, you know.  So that’s what I did.  The paper is contained in the conference proceeding edited by David Howarth under the title The Battle of the Atlantic. This was a very interesting opportunity, even if I did not have time to refute British criticism of my defense of Admirals King’s Atlantic priorities early in 1942 when Doentiz unleashed “Poukenschlag” on our East Coast.  

WINKLER: That’s a tome.
LUNDEBERG: Yeah, well you’ve got the table of contents and all the people there.  Well, Dean has gotten into the international scholarly arena particularly the International Commission of Military History.  I was working internationally through much of my museum career.  I could do it at the Smithsonian.

WINKLER: Yeah that opens your door to the world.

LUNDEBERG: Yeah.

WINKLER: Because of the international reputation of the Institution.

LUNDEBERG: Yeah.

WINKLER: Well I think what we’ll do is go ahead and transcribe our conversation and have you take a look at it, and if there’s any other things that you can write in or you can thrown a short paragraph in, and then we can do a little editing with an overview transcription and then go to press.

LUNDEBERG: Okay, fine.


Well I appreciate the opportunity to do this and I hope it’s useful for the Foundation.

WINKLER: It certainly is.  That’s why we do it.
END OF INTERVIEW
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